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Notice of Annual General Meeting

G E N T I N G  B E R H A D        A n nu a l  R e p o r t  20 001

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Thirty-Third Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at 26th
Floor, Wisma Genting, Jalan Sultan Ismail, 50250 Kuala Lumpur on Tuesday, 26 June 2001 at 2.30 p.m.

BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31
December 2000 and the Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports thereon.

2. To sanction the declaration of a final dividend.

3. To approve Directors’ fees of RM399,344 for the financial year ended 31 December
2000 (1999 – RM392,548).

4. To re-elect Encik Nik Hashim bin Nik Yusoff as a Director of the Company.

5. To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions pursuant to Section 129
of the Companies Act, 1965:

“That Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong, retiring in accordance with Section 129 of the Companies
Act, 1965, be and is hereby re-appointed as a Director of the Company to hold office
until the next Annual General Meeting.”

“That Tan Sri Mohd Amin bin Osman, retiring in accordance with Section 129 of the
Companies Act, 1965, be and is hereby re-appointed as a Director of the Company to
hold office until the next Annual General Meeting.”

“That Tan Sri Gunn Chit Tuan, retiring in accordance with Section 129 of the
Companies Act, 1965, be and is hereby re-appointed as a Director of the Company to
hold office until the next Annual General Meeting.”

6. To re-appoint Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

7. To transact any other business of which due notice shall have been given.

By Order of the Board
TAN WOOI MENG
Secretary

Kuala Lumpur
28 May 2001

NOTES
A member entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies (but not more than two) to attend
and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company but in accordance with Section 149 of the Companies
Act, 1965, a member shall not be entitled to appoint a person who is not a member of the Company as his proxy unless that
person is an advocate, an approved company auditor or a person approved by the Registrar of Companies in a particular case.
Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his holding to
be represented by each proxy. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company
not less than 48 hours before the time set for holding the meeting or at any adjournment thereof.

(Resolution 1)

(Resolution 2)

(Resolution 3)

(Resolution 4)

(Resolution 5)

(Resolution 6)

(Resolution 7)

(Resolution 8)



Genting Group Corporate Structure
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*

INVESTMENT HOLDING & MANAGEMENT SERVICES

100% Genting Hotel & Resorts Management Sdn Bhd
100% Resorts World Limited^
100% Genting Overseas Holdings Ltd
57.6% Genting International PLC**
100% Awana Hotels & Resorts Management Sdn Bhd
100% Genting Management and Consultancy Services Sdn Bhd

LEISURE & HOSPITALITY DIVISION

55.2% Resorts World Bhd*
100% Genting Golf Course Bhd^
100% Asiatic Golf Course (Sg. Petani) Bhd#

100% Resorts World Tours Sdn Bhd^
100% Widuri Pelangi Sdn Bhd^
100% Papago Sdn Bhd^
35.9% Star Cruises Limited***^^

PLANTATIONS DIVISION

54.9% Asiatic Development Berhad*
100% Tanjung Bahagia Sdn Bhd#

100% Sabah Development Company Sdn Bhd#

84% Landworthy Sdn Bhd#

PROPERTY DIVISION

100% Genting Highlands Bhd^
100% Gentinggi Sdn Bhd^
100% Kijal Resort Sdn Bhd^
100% Oakwood Sdn Bhd
100% Setiamas Sdn Bhd#

100% Asiatic Land Development Sdn Bhd#

60% Bandar Pelabuhan Sdn Bhd^

PAPER DIVISION

97.7% Genting Sanyen Industrial Paper Sdn Bhd
97.7% Genting Sanyen Paperboard Sdn Bhd

POWER DIVISION

39.1% Genting Sanyen Power Sdn Bhd
100% Genting Power Holdings Ltd

OIL & GAS DIVISION

95% Cairns Limited
95% Roundhay Limited
95% Coveyork Pty Ltd
95% Genting Oil & Gas (China) Limited

E-COMMERCE DIVISION

100% E-Genting Holdings Sdn Bhd
100% Genting Information Knowledge Enterprise Sdn Bhd

* Listed on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange

** Listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and quoted on
CLOB International, Singapore

*** Listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
quoted on CLOB International, Singapore

^ Subsidiary of Resorts World Bhd

^^ Associate of Resorts World Bhd

# Subsidiary of Asiatic Development Berhad

Subsidiary of E-Genting Holdings Sdn Bhd

(7916-A)

and its Principal Subsidiaries and Associates
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2000

29 FEBRUARY
Announcement of the Consolidated Results of the Group for
the fourth quarter and the Audited Results for the financial
year ended 31 December 1999.

12 APRIL
Announcement of the Entitlement Date for the Proposed Final
Dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December
1999 and the Thirty-Second Annual General Meeting.

Announcement of the following:

(a) Proposal for purchase of own shares (“Proposed Share
Buy-Back”)

(b) Proposed acquisition by Genting Centre of Excellence
Sdn Bhd of a parcel of leasehold land in Genting
Highlands, Bentong, Pahang Darul Makmur measuring
approximately 3.04 hectares from Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong
and disposal by Genting Highlands Berhad of two (2)
parcels of freehold land in Genting Highlands, Bentong,
Pahang Darul Makmur measuring approximately 3.04
hectares to Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong and/or his nominee(s)
(“Proposed Land Transactions”)

( c ) P roposed subscription of securities convertible into equity
s h a res of Star Cruises PLC (currently Star Cruises Limited)

25 MAY
Announcement of the Consolidated Unaudited Results of the
Group for the first quarter ended 31 March 2000.

6 JUNE
Notice to shareholders of the Thirty-Second Annual General
Meeting and Extraordinary General Meeting in respect of the
following:

(a) Proposed Amendments to the Memorandum and Articles
of Association to facilitate the Proposed Share Buy-Back
(“Proposed Amendments”)

(b) Proposed Share Buy-Back
(c) Proposed Land Transactions

29 JUNE
Thirty-Second Annual General Meeting and Extraordinary
General Meeting in respect of the following:

(a) Proposed Amendments 
(b) Proposed Share Buy-Back
(c) Proposed Land Transactions

24 AUGUST
Announcement of the Consolidated Unaudited Results of the
Group for the second quarter ended 30 June 2000.

Announcement of the Entitlement Date for the Interim
Dividend in respect of the half-year ended 30 June 2000.

DIVIDENDS
Announcement Entitlement Date Payment

1999  Final – 12.5 sen less tax 29 February 2000 11 July 2000 31 July 2000
2000  Interim – 6.5 sen less tax 24 August 2000 11 October 2000 31 October 2000
2000  Proposed Final – 12.5 sen less tax 28 February 2001 9 July 2001 30 July 2001*

* Upon approval of Shareholders at the Thirty-Third Annual General Meeting.

21 NOVEMBER
Announcement of the resignation of Mr Colin Au Fook Yew as
an Executive Director of the Company and the cessation of
Mr Teo Eng Siong as his alternate on the Board.

27 NOVEMBER
Announcement of the disposal of the Gro u p ’s entire
shareholding interest in NCL Holding ASA amounting to a
total of 29,110,200 shares to Arrasas Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Star Cruises Limited.

29 NOVEMBER
Announcement of the Consolidated Unaudited Results of the
Group for the third quarter ended 30 September 2000.

2001 

28 FEBRUARY
Announcement of the Consolidated Results of the Group for
the fourth quarter and the Audited Results for the financial
year ended 31 December 2000.

18 APRIL
Announcement of the Entitlement Date for the Proposed
Final Dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31
December 2000 and the Thirt y - T h i rd Annual General
Meeting.

20 APRIL
Announcement of the following:

(a) Proposed Renewal of Mandate for the Proposed Share
Buy-Back (“Proposed Share Buy-Back”)

(b) Proposed Amendments to the Articles of Association
(“Proposed Amendments”)

28 MAY
Notice to shareholders of the Thirty-Third Annual General
Meeting and Extraordinary General Meeting in respect of the
Proposed Share Buy-Back and Proposed Amendments.

26 JUNE
T h i rt y - T h i rd Annual General Meeting and Extraord i n a ry
General Meeting in respect of the Proposed Share Buy-Back
and Proposed Amendments.
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to
p resent the Annual Report and Audited Financial
Statements of the Genting Group of Companies
(“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2000.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

The Group revenue increased by 8.5% to RM3,338.6
million in 2000 (1999: RM3,077.4 million). This
improvement in revenue is mainly due to the Group’s
L e i s u re and Hospitality Division, which re c o rd e d
higher consumer spending and visitor arrivals. The
Plantation and Pro p e rty divisions, however
experienced lower palm product prices and weak
market conditions.

The profit performance was affected mainly by the
write-off of goodwill of RM1,047.2 million arising from
the acquisition of additional interest in Star Cruises
Limited (“Star Cruises”) and the share of loss of
RM49.6 million from Star Cruises. The Gro u p
registered a pre-tax loss of RM322.7 million, resulting
in a basic loss per share of 34.9 sen for the year under
review, compared to a pre-tax profit of RM1,521.4
million and basic earnings per share of 156.3 sen in the
preceding year. Included in the pre-tax loss for the year
under review is a loss of RM308.8 million arising from
the disposal of shares in NCL Holding ASA (“NCL”)
and an allowance of RM130.3 million for diminution in
value of short-term investments.

DIVIDENDS

An interim dividend of 6.5 sen less 28% tax per
o rd i n a ry share of 50 sen each or appro x i m a t e l y
RM32.9 million was paid on 31 October 2000. The
Board recommends a final dividend of 12.5 sen less
28% tax per ordinary share of 50 sen each, subject to
the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming
Thirty-Third Annual General Meeting. The total net
dividend for the year will amount to RM96.3 million.

Saya bagi pihak Lembaga Pengarah, dengan
sukacitanya membentangkan Laporan Tahunan dan
Penyata Kewangan Beraudit untuk Syarikat-syarikat
Dalam Kumpulan Genting (“Kumpulan”) bagi tahun
kewangan berakhir 31 Disember 2000.

TINJAUAN PRESTASI

Hasil Kumpulan telah meningkat sehingga 8.5%
kepada RM3,338.6 juta pada tahun 2000 (1999:
RM3,077.4 juta). Peningkatan hasil Kumpulan
khususnya diperolehi melalui Bahagian Peranginan
dan Keraian, yang telah mencatatkan peningkatan
dalam perbelanjaan pengguna dan ketibaan para
pelawat. Bagaimanapun, bahagian Perladangan and
H a rtanah  telah mengalami kemerosotan harga pro d u k -
p roduk kelapa sawit dan keadaan pasaran yang lemah.

P restasi keuntungan telah terjejas khususnya oleh
pelupusan ihsan sebanyak RM1,047.2 juta yang timbul
dari pemerolehan kepentingan tambahan dalam Star
Cruises Limited (“Star Cruises”) dan dari perkongsian
k e rugian sebanyak RM49.6 juta dari Star Cru i s e s .
Kumpulan  telah mencatatkan kerugian sebelum cukai
berjumlah RM322.7 juta, mengakibatkan keru g i a n
sesaham asas  bernilai 34.9 sen bagi tahun tersebut,
berbanding dengan keuntungan sebelum cukai
berjumlah RM1,521.4 juta serta pendapatan sesaham
asas bernilai 156.3 sen pada tahun sebelumnya.
K e rugian berjumlah RM308.8 juta yang timbul
daripada pelupusan saham-saham NCL Holding ASA
(“NCL”) dan satu peruntukan sebanyak RM130.3 juta
untuk penyusutan nilai pelaburan-pelaburan jangka-
pendek.

DIVIDEN

Dividen interim sebanyak 6.5 sen tolak  28% cukai bagi
setiap saham biasa bernilai 50 sen sesaham berjumlah
RM32.9 juta telah dibayar pada 31 Oktober 2000.
Lembaga Pengarah mencadangkan dividen akhir
sebanyak 12.5 sen tolak 28% cukai bagi setiap saham
biasa bernilai 50 sen sesaham tertakluk kepada
kelulusan para pemegang saham di Mesyuarat Agung
Tahunan Ketiga Puluh Tiga yang akan datang. Jumlah
bersih dividen bagi tahun tersebut adalah RM96.3 juta.

PERKEMBANGAN PERNIAGAAN

Bahagian Peranginan dan Keraian telah menyumbang
sejumlah RM907.6 juta kepada keuntungan sebelum
cukai Kumpulan pada tahun 2000 (1999: RM779.5 juta).
Pelbagai kemajuan dan peningkatan telah
dilaksanakan ke atas infrastruktur dan kemudahan-
kemudahan yang disediakan di Genting Highlands
R e s o rt (“Resort”) bagi memperkukuhkan kedudukannya
sebagai destinasi terulung di Malaysia dan  di Asia.

Hotel terbaru, First World Hotel, bertujuan untuk
menarik para pelancong yang mementingkan
penjimatan belanja dengan tawaran pakej-pakej

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Year ended 31 December 2000 1999 Change 
RM million RM million %

Operating revenue 3,338.6 3,077.4 8.5
(Loss)/Profit before taxation (322.7) 1,521.4 (>100)
(Loss)/Profit after taxation (674.7) 1,505.7 (>100)
Net (Loss)/Profit for the year (245.5) 1,101.1 (>100)
Shareholders’ equity 5,384.1 5,788.9 (7.0)
Total assets employed 9,300.8 9,438.8 (1.5)

Basic (loss)/earnings 
per share (sen)* (34.9) 156.3 (>100)

Diluted (loss)/earnings
per share (sen)* N/A N/A N/A

Net dividend per share (sen)* 13.7 13.7 0
Dividend cover (times) N/A 11.4 (>100)
Net tangible assets 

per ordinary share (RM)* 7.6 8.2 (7.3)
(Loss)/Return (after tax and 

minority interests) on average
shareholders’ equity (%) (4.4) 20.8 (>100)

* Computed based on (loss)/profit after taxation and minority interests.
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTS

The Leisure & Hospitality Division contributed
RM907.6 million to the Group’s profit before tax in
2000 (1999: RM779.5 million). Numerous improvements
and enhancements in various facilities and
infrastructure were carried out at Genting Highlands
Resort (“Resort”) to reinforce its status as the premier
entertainment destination in Malaysia and in Asia.

The latest hotel, First World Hotel, aims to attract
budget-conscious travellers with its affordable and
attractive holiday packages. The hotel’s first block
comprising 3,300 rooms, is partly completed with
1,000 rooms opened in December 2000. Another 1,000
new rooms will be made available by mid-2001 and the
remaining 1,300 rooms by end-2001. The hotel will
feature many new exciting attractions such as a new
Indoor Theme Park, a shopping boulevard, numerous
speciality restaurants, a state-of-the-art 28-lane
bowling centre and the largest convention centre in
Malaysia. The total capital expenditure for the initial
3,300 rooms of First World Hotel and its new
attractions is expected to be about RM800 million.

The construction of the four-lane carriage highway
f rom the foothills at Genting Sempah to Aw a n a
Genting Highlands was completed during the year.
This has reduced travelling time from Kuala Lumpur to
the peak of the Resort to less than an hour. Facilities for
basic amenities such as water supply, sewerage
treatment and waste disposal have been expanded to
cater to the needs of growing arrivals to the Resort and
for future developments. 

The Paper & Packaging Division completed and
commissioned a new 120,000-tonne corrugated box
plant within its Kuala Langat Paper Mill Complex,
Selangor in the last quarter of 2000. Another similar
state-of-the-art box plant is being constructed in Prai,
Penang and is expected to be ready for commercial
operation by the third quarter of 2001. The capital
expenditure for both box plants with a total capacity of
240,000 tonnes is expected to be about RM450 million.
These new box plants, once fully commissioned, will
enable the Division to be an integrated value-added
solutions provider of paper and corrugated products. 

p e rcutian yang menarik dan berpatutan harg a n y a .
Blok pertama hotel ini yang mengandungi 3,300 bilik
telah sebahagian siap dibina dengan pembukaan 1,000
bilik pada Disember 2000. Sejumlah 1,000 bilik lagi
akan dibuka menjelang pertengahan tahun 2001 dan
baki 1,300 bilik dijangka siap pada akhir tahun 2001.
Hotel itu juga akan mengandungi Taman Tema Dalam,
sebuah jalan berhias membeli-belah, pelbagai
re s t o r a n - restoran yang istimewa, sebuah pusat
permainan boling dengan 28-lorong yang canggih dan
terkini serta pusat konvesyen terbesar di Malaysia.
Jumlah modal perbelanjaan bagi peringkat permulaan
First World Hotel dengan 3,300 bilik serta kemudahan
daya tarikannya yang terbaru itu dianggarkan
sebanyak RM800 juta.

Pembinaan lebuhraya empat-lorong dari kaki bukit di
Genting Sempah ke Awana Genting Highlands telah
siap dibina dalam tahun kajian. Ini telah memendekkan
masa perjalanan dari Kuala Lumpur ke puncak Resort
dalam masa kurang dari sejam. Kemudahan-
kemudahan asas seperti air, rawatan pembetungan
dan pembuangan sampah telah diperkembangkan
bagi menampung keperluan para pelawat yang
semakin meningkat ke Resort dan untuk
pembangunan di masa depan.

Bahagian Kertas dan Pembungkusan telah selesai
membina dan menyelenggarakan sebuah loji pembuat
kotak kertas gelugur yang boleh menampung 120,000
tan di persekitaran Kompleks Kuala Langat Paper Mill,
Selangor pada suku terakhir tahun 2000. Sebuah lagi
loji pembuat kotak yang canggih kini sedang dibina di
Seberang Perai, Pulau Pinang dan dijangka siap untuk
beroperasi  komersil pada suku ketiga tahun 2001.
Modal perbelanjaan bagi kedua-dua loji kotak ini
dengan jumlah keupayaan sebanyak 240,000 tan
dijangka berjumlah lebih kurang RM450 juta. Loji-loji
baru tersebut apabila beroperasi sepenuhnya, akan
menjadikan Bahagian ini sebagai pembekal bersepadu
dan penyelesai nilai tambahan dalam pern i a g a a n
kertas dan  produk-produk gelugur.

eGenting, bahagian IT Kumpulan bercadang untuk
menyatukan semua sumber berasaskan IT di dalam
Kumpulan dan mengambil kesempatan daripada
teknologi-teknologi multimedia yang terbaru untuk

Basic Earnings/(Loss) Per Share Net Tangible Assets Per Share

RM
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eGenting, the IT division of the Group aims to
consolidate all IT-related resources within the Group
and capitalise on the latest multimedia, broadband and
IT technologies to enhance the existing businesses. In
August 2000, online hotel and show reservations and
payment services were successfully launched for all
hotels. The Siebel Customer Relationship Management
software was commissioned during the year and rolled
out in the first quarter of 2001 to enhance the
e ffectiveness and efficiency of customer data
management for marketing planning and
implementation.

CORPORATE DEVELOPMENTS

On 29 November 2000, the Gro u p ’s Leisure and
Hospitality Division, via its subsidiary Resorts World
Limited, invested an additional US$442.5 million for
approximately 610 million new Star Cruises shares.
Star Cruises was listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited on 30 November 2000 and was
simultaneously de-listed from the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange on the same day. The Group disposed of
about 29.1 million NCL shares (or 10.9% stake in NCL)
for a cash consideration of NOK436.7 million
(approximately RM173.8 million), to part finance the
additional strategic investment in Star Cruises.

On 17 November 2000, the Group’s Paper Division,
Genting Sanyen Industrial Paper Sdn Bhd signed an
“Implementation Document” with NKK Corporation,
Japan for its proposed “Wa s t e - To - E n e rgy plant”
project for the Green Aid Plan, which is supported by
MITI Japan and the Economic Planning Unit of
Malaysia. The Waste-To-Energy Plant will incinerate
paper mill waste as an alternative to land-filling
p rocess and will complement the enviro n m e n t a l
efforts of the Paper Division. 

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to
e x p ress our appreciation for the invaluable
contributions made by Mr Colin Au Fook Yew who for
medical reasons has resigned as an Executive Director
of the Group. Consequently, Mr Teo Eng Siong ceased
to be an Alternate Director to Mr Au on the Board.

I would also like to thank our shareholders, customers,
the various authorities and business associates for
their continuous support and confidence in the Group.
My appreciation is also extended to the management
and staff for their unwavering dedication, support and
commitment to the Group. May we continue to work
together to overcome any impending challenges and
strive for further excellence ahead.

TAN SRI LIM GOH TONG
Chairman and Chief Executive
18 April 2001

meningkatkan perniagaan-perniagaan yang sedia ada.
Pada Ogos 2000 penempahan hotel dan persembahan
s e rta perkhidmatan bayaran dalam talian telah
dilancarkan dengan jayanya bagi kesemua hotel.
Perisian Siebel Customer Relationship Management
telah dimulakan pada tahun tersebut dan telah
dikeluarkan pada suku tahun pertama 2001 untuk
meningkatkan keberkesanan dan kecekapan
pentadbiran data para pelanggan untuk perancangan
pemasaran dan pelaksanaannya.

PERKEMBANGAN-PERKEMBANGAN KORPORAT

Pada 29 November 2000, Bahagian Peranginan dan
Keraian Kumpulan , melalui anak syarikatnya Resorts
World Limited (“RWL”) membuat pelaburan tambahan
sejumlah US$442.5 juta atau lebih kurang 610 juta
saham-saham baru Star Cruises. Star Cruises telah
disenaraikan di Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
pada 30 November 2000 dan serentak dikeluarkan dari
senarai di Luxembourg Stock Exchange pada hari yang
sama. Kumpulan  telah melupuskan lebih kurang 29.1
juta saham NCL (atau 10.9% dalam NCL) untuk wang
tunai sejumlah NOK436.7 juta (lebih kurang RM173.8
juta), bagi membiayai sebahagian daripada pelaburan
strategik tambahan dalam Star Cruises.

Pada 17 November 2000, Bahagian Kertas  Kumpulan,
Genting Sanyen Industrial Paper Sdn Bhd telah
menandatangani “Dokumen Implementasi” dengan
NKK Corporation, Jepun untuk projek cadangan “Loji
Barangan-Buangan-Kepada-Tenaga” untuk Green Aid
Plan, yang disokong oleh MITI Jepun dan Unit
Perancangan Ekonomi Malaysia. Loji ini akan
membakar barang buangan dari kilang kertas sebagai
alternatif kepada proses penambakan tanah dan akan
melengkapi usaha-usaha persekitaran Bahagian ini.

PENGHARGAAN

Bagi pihak Lembaga Pengarah, saya ingin
mengucapkan terima kasih di atas sumbangan yang
sangat tinggi nilainya daripada Encik Colin Au Fook
Yew yang di atas sebab-sebab kesihatan telah
meletakkan jawatan sebagai seorang Pengarah
Eksekutif dalam Kumpulan. Dengan demikian, Encik
Teo Eng Siong tidak lagi menjadi Pengarah Alternat
kepada Encik Au dalam Lembaga Pengarah.

Saya juga ingin mengucapkan terima kasih kepada
para pemegang saham, para pelanggan, pihak-pihak
berkuasa dan rakan-rakan perniagaan yang telah
memberikan sokongan dan keyakinan mereka kepada
Kumpulan. Penghargaan saya juga disampaikan
kepada pihak pengurusan and kakitangan syarikat di
atas dedikasi mereka yang tidak goyah, sokongan serta
komitmen terhadap Kumpulan. Semoga kita teru s
b e rganding tenaga untuk mengharungi sebarang
cabaran yang akan datang dan berusaha untuk
mencapai kecemerlangan di masa depan.

TAN SRI LIM GOH TONG
Pengerusi dan Ketua Eksekutif
18 April 2001
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LEISURE & HOSPITALITY

GENTING HIGHLANDS RESORT

The Leisure and Hospitality division contributed a
profit before tax of RM907.6 million to the Group
during the year under re v i e w. Genting Highlands
R e s o rt – City of Entertainment, as the pre m i e r
entertainment destination in Malaysia and in Asia
attracted 13.4 million visitors in 2000, compared to 12.1
million in the preceding year.

The Arena of Stars played host to numerous crowd-
pulling concerts that featured popular Canto-pop
e n t e rtainers such as Priscilla Chan, Jenny Ts e n g ,
Grasshopper, Harlem Yu as well as internationally
acclaimed artistes such as Westlife, Air Supply and
Kitaro. The Arena of Stars also hosted the 1st Asia
Chinese Music Award and the International Chinese
Singing Competition, which was televised live by Astro
TV and TVB Hong Kong.

Following the successful illusion shows of “Odyssey”
and “Odyssey 2”, Genting International Showroom is
now staging the popular “Magic On Ice”, the first-ever
magic show in the region that incorporates ice-skating
and illusions and features the world’s premier ice-
skating illusionist, Steve Wheeler and other world-
class skaters. 

Genting Theme Park featured new and exciting rides in
2000, such as the “Double Deck Carousel”, the thrilling
“Spinner”, the gravity-defying “Space Shot” and the
latest Motion Masters’ “Dragon Planet”.

During the year, the four hotels at the Resort
(excluding First World Hotel) maintained an overall
occupancy rate of 84% with a total of 892,000 room
nights sold in 2000 (1999: 883,000 room nights sold).

The hotels at the Resort continued to be recognised for
their service and quality excellence, as Genting Hotel
maintained its MS ISO 9002 certification for the second
consecutive year and Highlands Hotel successfully
received its MS ISO 9002 certification for Rooms
Operation. 

The first phase of First World Hotel under construction

Checking in guests at First World Hotel with computerised
queue systemMagic on Ice – incorporating ice skating and illusions

The newest hotel at the Resort, First World Hotel
opened its initial 1,000 rooms and a 1,338-capacity
restaurant called “Tropical Kafe” on 15 December
2000. New attractions at the hotel will include a new
Indoor Theme Park, a shopping boulevard, various
speciality restaurants, a 28-lane state-of-the-art
bowling centre and the largest convention centre in
Malaysia, Genting International Convention Centre.

Basic amenities such as water supply, sewerage
treatment and waste disposal, as well as the upgraded
f o u r-lane carriage highway (completed from the
foothills at Genting Sempah to Awana Genting
Highlands Golf & Country Resort), have been
enhanced and expanded to cater to the increasing
visitors to the Resort and its future developments.

AWANA HOTELS & RESORTS 

The three Awana hotel properties achieved an overall
average occupancy rate of 72% in 2000 (1999: 63%). 

Awana Genting Highlands Golf & Country Resort with
its lush natural surroundings, continued to gain
popularity for its healthy eco-sports and its nature
conservation efforts.

Awana Kijal Golf & Beach Resort in Kijal, Terengganu,
renowned for its 7.6 km pristine white beach and a
w o r l d - s t a n d a rd 18-hole golf course, continues to
achieve high  “repeat and return” hotel guests and
remains a popular attraction in the east coast,
Peninsular Malaysia, particularly for business
conventions and social functions.

Awana Porto Malai, Langkawi continues to attract
visitors with its Mediterranean-inspired charm and
hospitality and through major events such as the
Langkawi International Maritime and Aero s p a c e
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Exhibition (LIMA), the Asian Shooting Competition and
the Malaysian Open Sepak Takraw Competition. The
Group also part-sponsored Datuk Azhar Mansor in his
solo Jalur Gemilang yacht expedition around the
world and celebrated the first anniversary of his
accomplishment in 2000.

AWANA VACATION RESORTS

The Gro u p ’s timeshare business, Awana Va c a t i o n
Resorts, under Awana Vacation Resorts Development
Bhd recruited 1,234 new members during the year,
resulting in a total of 2,028 members since its launch in
August 1998.

The timeshare allows members the opportunity to stay
at the numerous hotels at the Resort, the Awana Chain
and 3,600 affiliated resorts in nearly 100 countries.

STAR CRUISES LIMITED 

The Group’s associate, Star Cruises Limited (“Star
Cruises”), formerly known as Star Cruises PLC in the
Isle of Man, underwent a major corporate exercise
which resulted in its new listing on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited on 30 November 2000 and its
simultaneous de-listing from the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange. As p a rt of the exercise, the Group via its
s u b s i d i a ry Resorts World Limited (“RWL”) on 29
November 2000, invested an additional US$442.5
million for approximately 610 million new Star Cru i s e s
s h a res and increased RW L’s stake in Star Cruises fro m
26.8% to 35.9%.

The acquisition of NCL has enabled Star Cruises to be
“The First Global Cruise Line” in addition to “The
Leading Cruise Line in Asia-Pacific”. Star Cruises now
operates a total fleet of 17 ships with over 20,000 lower
berths under three brands, i.e. Star Cruises, Norwegian
Cruise Line and Orient Lines. The combined fleet calls
over 200 ports in Asia-Pacific, North and South
America, Europe, Bermuda, Caribbean, Alaska,
M e d i t e rranean and Antarctica. Its innovative and
outstanding products, services and safety excellence
has won Star Cruises numerous awards during the year.
These awards include the “Best Cruise Operator in Asia-
Pacific” for the fourth consecutive year by Travel Tr a d e
Gazette Asia and the “Outstanding Contribution to
Tourism” by the Singapore Tourism Board .

As part of Star Cruises’ ongoing fleet modernisation
p rogramme, Star Aquarius, MegaStar Sagittarius
(formerly Sun Viva I) and MegaStar Capricorn (Sun
Viva II) were sold during the year.

STAR CRUISES & ITS FLEET IN OPERATION

Star Cruises Norwegian Orient Lines
Cruise Line

SuperStar Leo Norwegian Dream Crown Odyssey
SuperStar Virgo Norwegian Majesty Marco Polo
SuperStar Aries Norwegian Sky
SuperStar Gemini Norwegian Wind
SuperStar Taurus* Norwegian Sea
Star Pisces The Norway
MegaStar Taurus Norwegian Sun (Sept 2001)
MegaStar Aries Norwegian Star (end 2001)
Norwegian Star 1* Norwegian Dawn (end 2002)

(* Chartered in)

Fun-filled family entertainment (clockwise from top left)
Spinner – the latest spinning sensation; fun time with
Tabby & Allie, Genting Theme Park mascots; enjoy a
variety of food delicacies; shop or stroll leisurely at Genting
– City of Entertainment.

Windjammer Bar on the Norway

The Norway
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The Norwegian Sun, a new 77,000-gross tonne cruise
ship is expected to commence cruising in September
2001 under the NCL brand. The two Libra-class
newbuilds, Norwegian Star (formerly SuperStar Libra)
and Norwegian Dawn (formerly SuperStar Scorpio),
will be delivered to NCL, by the end of 2001 and 2002
respectively.

Norwegian Star will be NCL’s first purpose-built ship
for “freestyle cruising”, an innovative and original
cruising concept pioneered by Star Cruises.  It offers
casualness and flexibility to cruisers in making their
own dining arrangements, entertainment and
re c reation choices unlike traditional cruising. This
popular concept will be extended to all ships by the
end of 2001. 

During the year, Star Cruises entered into an
agreement with the Port Authority of Thailand to invest
a p p roximately US$15 million in the constru c t i o n ,
management and operation of a passenger port at
Laem Chabang, Thailand, as part of its ongoing
commitment to develop cruise tourism in the Asia-
Pacific region.

PLANTATIONS

The Plantations Division posted a profit before tax of
RM39.0 million in 2000, a 60% decline compared to the
p receding year. The significantly lower contribution was
attributed to the overall depressed selling prices of cru d e
palm oil (“CPO”).  The average selling price achieved for
CPO was RM1,000 per tonne for 2000 (1999: RM1,445 per
tonne) and for palm kernel (“PK”) was RM703 per tonne
in 2000 (1999: RM1,071 per tonne).

The production of fresh fruit bunches (“FFB”)
increased by 14% to 655,366 tonnes in 2000. As a
result, the output of CPO increased to 127,587 tonnes
while PK improved correspondingly to 34,612 tonnes.
The processing capacity was increased from the
previous 120 tonnes per hour to 155 tonnes per hour
with the commissioning of the second processing line
at the Sri Tanjung Oil Mill in early 2000. This increase
in milling capacity diluted the capacity utilisation rate
to 81% in 2000 (1999: 92%).

The Serian Palm Oil Mill, the Group’s 40% joint venture
with Sarawak Land Consolidation and Rehabilitation
Authority (“SALCRA”) continued to perf o rm
commendably and processed 153,188 tonnes of FFB,
an increase of 6% over the previous year. This oil mill
with a production capacity of 30 tonnes per hour, was
a w a rded by PORLA the “Anugerah Industri Sawit
Malaysia” for the third consecutive year for attaining
consistently high oil extraction rates. 

Aerobics on SuperStar Leo’s Sports DeckSuperStar Virgo – Parthenon Pool

Mechanised FFB collection using the grabber

PLANTATION STATISTICS FOR 2000

Oil Palm Rubber Durian & Others Titled Area
Area (Hectares) 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999

Mature 32,605 31,625 1,291 1,582 10 - 33,906 33,207
Immature 4,765 4,331 - - - 10 4,765 4,341

Total Planted Area 37,370 35,956 1,291 1,582 10 10 38,671 37,548

As a percentage (%) 96.7 95.8 3.3 4.2 - - 100.0 100.0
Unplanted Jungle Area - - - - - 1,235 - 1,235
Labour Lines, Buildings & Infrastructure, etc - - - - 1,923 1,857 1,923 1,857

Total Area 37,370 35,956 1,291 1,582 1,933 3,102 40,594 40,640

Percentage Over Titled Area (%) 92.0 88.5 3.2 3.9 4.8 7.6 100.0 100.0
Production (mt) 655,366 574,359 1,457 1,729 - - - -
Yield Per Mature Hectare (mt/kg) 20.2 18.5 1,591 1,420 - - - -

Average Selling Price

Rubber (sen/kg) - - 223 209 - - - -
CPO (RM/mt) 1,000 1,445 - - - - - -
Palm Kernel (RM/mt) 703 1,071 - - - - - -
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PROPERTIES

The overall weak pro p e rty market affected the
performance of the Property Division during the year.
The Division posted a profit before tax of RM21.7
million in 2000 (1999: RM130.1 million).

The Indahpura Project in Kulai, Johor launched some
medium-cost single and double-storey houses and
shop offices. Various marketing plans such as flexible
payment scheme, product packaging, value-added
s e rvices, pro p e rty carnivals and exhibitions were
implemented to push the property sales. Despite these
efforts, the property sales remained slow.

During the year, the Division completed on schedule
the construction of 1,040 low-cost apartment units as
part of the “Rumah Rakyat” scheme. A formal “hand-
over of keys” ceremony was held on 22 October 2000
and graced by the Menteri Besar of Johor, YAB Dato’
Haji Abdul Ghani bin Othman.

The Permaipura Project in Kedah did not have any new
property launch during the year. Sales activities were
focused on the remaining property inventories. 

Awana Kijal Golf & Beach Resort, an integrated tourist-
cum-housing resort project with the longest pristine
beach of 7.6 km on the east coast of Peninsular
Malaysia, remains the premier seaside resort among
locals and expatriates. Kijal Beach Resort Apartments
continue to achieve high occupancy rates from its
long-staying guests and marketing efforts are being
undertaken to sell off the remaining land parcels under
the project.

PAPER & PACKAGING 

The Division completed its second year of operation as
a fully integrated Paper & Packaging business unit. The
Division contributed a profit before tax of RM75.4
million to the Group, an improvement of 23% over the
preceding year.

During the year, the two paper mills at the Genting
Sanyen Industrial Paper Mill Complex in Kuala Langat,
Selangor (“GSIP Mill Complex”), achieved a total
production of 245,000 tonnes in 2000 (1999: 238,000
tonnes) and maintained its high average production
efficiency of 96%. 

The Paper Operations benefited from the buoyant
market demand for industrial brown paper and the
total sales tonnage exceeded its entire production in
2000. Its emphasis on research and development has
resulted in the launching of a new and cheaper product
substitute for imported Liner, in the first quarter of
2001.

Residential and commercial developments in Indahpura

Pavonina D Double-storey shop officesDouble-storey shop officesRossia A Four-storey shop offices

The Signing Ceremony of the Implementation Document between
Genting Sanyen Industrial Paper Sdn Bhd and NKK Corporation
under the Green Aid Plan by NEDO (17 November 2000)

Paper rolls being produced at GSIP mill complex

Emphasising on R&D and quality control
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POWER

The Power Division, via the Group’s 39.1% interest in
Genting Sanyen Power Sdn Bhd (“GSP”), recorded a
profit before tax of RM99.7 million in 2000 (1999:
RM102.7 million).

GSP is an Independent Power Pro d u c e r, which
operates a 720 MW gas-fired combined cycle power
plant. The plant, in its fifth year of full commercial
operation, continued to be highly ranked in Tenaga
Nasional Berh a d ’s (“TNB”) merit order dispatch
schedule and therefore registered a record electricity
sale to TNB in 2000.

The first Owner’s paid C-Inspection (i.e. major
scheduled maintenance) on one of the three ABB13E2
gas turbines was carried out during the year under
re v i e w. GSP had signed an agreement for the
extension of the Operations & Maintenance Contract
with the existing operator for a further 10 years with
improved terms and conditions.  The cost of the other
two remaining C-Inspections under the initial contract
is included in the extension contract. 

In recognition of its consistent safety practices, the
Genting Sanyen Power Plant was awarded the
Malaysian Society for Occupational Safety & Health
Grand Award 2000.

The new Central box plant with state-of-the-art corrugating
and printing machinery

The new Central box plant at GSIP Mill Complex in
Kuala Langat, Selangor

The Packaging Operations continued to experience
high demand for its packaging products and achieved
total sales of 48,600 tonnes, a 3% increase over the
previous year. The Packaging unit’s new corrugated
box plant at the GSIP Mill Complex was commissioned
in the last quarter of 2000, with state-of-the-art
c o rrugating and printing machinery. The 120,000-
tonne capacity box plant is equipped with a high-speed
corrugator, which operates at 400 meters per minute
and is the fastest corrugating machine in Southeast
Asia. It is also equipped with a 6-colour and an 8-
colour Masterflex printers. 

Another similar new box plant is being constructed in
Prai, Penang and is expected to begin commercial
operations by the third quarter of 2001. Once fully
commissioned, these two box plants with a total
capacity of 240,000 tonnes, will enable the Division to
be an integrated value-added solutions provider of
paper-packaging and corrugated products. 

Heat recovery steam generators at
Kuala Langat power station

Steam turbine generator

Central control room at the
Kuala Langat Power Station



OIL & GAS 

The Oil & Gas Division, under the Group’s 95%-owned
subsidiary Genting Oil & Gas Limited (“GOGL”)  has
operations in China, Indonesia and Australia.

In China, Genting Oil & Gas (China) Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of GOGL, officially took over the
field operations of the Zhuangxi Buried Hill Oil Field,
on 1 January 2000. Multiple well workovers were
completed and electrical submersible pumps were
installed.  As a result, average wellhead production
quadrupled to approximately 400 tonnes per day. The
Division benefited from high oil prices, realising an
average oil price over the year of US$27.31 per barrel
(US$16.75 in 1999).

A number of wells have been identified for deepening
or side-tracking prior to being put on production. Other
wells will be converted into water injectors. This pilot
project runs until March 2002, after which the Division
has the option to continue operations for a further 20
years.

In Indonesia, GOGL’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Cairns
Limited has a 45% interest in the Muturi Production
Sharing Contract (“PSC”) located in Irian Jaya and is
entitled to supply approximately 10% of the gas to the
Tangguh Liquefied Natural Gas (“LNG”) project. Front
End Engineering and Design (“FEED”) studies for the
LNG plant were awarded to Chiyoda-Mitsubishi and
Phillips Bechtel. Both studies will be completed by mid
2001. Additional studies on upstream FEED, port and
storage facilities, infrastru c t u re and marketing
activities are ongoing. 

In A u s t r a l i a, GOGL’s wholly-owned subsidiary,
Coveyork Pty Ltd has a 100% interest in Block WA - 2 7 4 -P
located on the North West Shelf of Australia.
Geological and geophysical studies performed during
the year led to the identification and evaluation of
several large prospects. Particular attention was paid
to a series of wells drilled immediately to the southeast
of the Division’s permit that resulted in the discovery
and partial delineation of a gas-condensate field. A 2D
seismic programme was acquired in November 2000
and its evaluation showed that this field may extend
considerably into WA-274-P.

In M y a n m a r, GOGL’s wholly-owned subsidiary,
Roundhay Limited relinquished Block M3 in April 2000,
when it was concluded that the permit was unlikely to
contain hydrocarbon in commercial quantities. An
e x p l o r a t o ry well Ye-1 was drilled in Block M4.
Unfortunately, only non-commercial quantities of gas
w e re encountered and as a result, the well was
plugged and abandoned.
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E-COMMERCE & IT DEVELOPMENT 

The Group’s E-Commerce and IT Division, E-Genting
Holdings Sdn Bhd (“eGenting”) comprises the MSC-
status Genting Information Knowledge Enterprise Sdn
Bhd (“GIKE”), E-Genting Sdn Bhd (“EGSB”) and
Genting Card Services Sdn Bhd. eGenting aims to
consolidate all IT-related resources within the Group
and capitalise on the latest multimedia, broadband and
IT technologies to enhance the Gro u p ’s existing
businesses. 

During the year under re v i e w, GIKE attained the
“Microsoft Certified Solution Provider” status, which
enables prompt online technical re s o u rces and
support by Microsoft. In August 2000, online hotel and
show re s e rvations and payment services were
successfully launched for all the hotels in the Group.
The leisure and hospitality portal, www.genting.com.my
currently has more than 26,000 online members and
continues to attract new members.

The Data Center under EGSB provides operational
customers support through shared services on data
communication network, telecommunication, system
administration, desktop support and network security.

The SAP Competency Center will work towards the
s t a n d a rdisation of operations on the SAP system
p l a t f o rm, and the implementation of common
modules across the Group which includes Purchasing,
Central Wa rehousing, HR Services and Financial
Services. The Research and Development Division will
continue in its system R&D, particularly in Dynamic
Reporting System modification and enhancement.

The Northern Explorer II, a contracted drilling rig in the
Vorwata Field, Indonesia



The Siebel Customer Relationship Management
(“CRM”) was implemented during the year to integrate
and enhance services through effective and efficient
management of customer data and the planning and
implementation of sales and marketing programmes.
Genting WorldCard, the leading loyalty programme in
this region with more than 330,000 cardholders, will
continue to use CRM to provide personalised customer
service and develop future products and programmes
to meet customers’ needs.

HUMAN RESOURCES 

Employees continue to play a pivotal role in the
development of the Group. The Group has a total
workforce of 15,000 employees as at 31 December
2000. During the year, Long Service Awards were
awarded to a total of 1,125 employees in recognition of
their loyalty and dedicated services to the Group.

The Group continues to be recognised for its strong
management leadership and dedicated employees as

it once again, received numerous awards
of recognition during the year.

Genting Berhad was voted the no. 1
leading company in Malaysia for the
seventh consecutive year, in the Far
Eastern Economic Review’s “Review 200 -
Asia’s Leading Companies” in 2000.  It
was again recognised as the top
Malaysian company in Asian Business’

“ A s i a ’s Most Admired Companies
2000.” 
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Y Bhg Tan Sri Mohd Amin bin Osman, Director of Genting Berhad
and Y Bhg Tan Sri Alwi Jantan, Executive Director of Resorts World
Bhd, together with the year 2001 festive season donation recipients
from various charitable homes

COMMUNITY SERVICES 

The Group, as a caring and responsible corporation,
continued to support more than 150 welfare and
charitable bodies in Malaysia, such as the Persatuan
Orang-Orang Cacat Malaysia, Yayasan Sultanah
Bahiyah, Yayasan Sultan Idris Shah, Monfort Boys
Town, Malaysian Association for the Blind and
Persatuan Kebajikan Anak-anak Yatim Islam. Among
the many other recipients of our contributions were
the Malaysian AIDS Foundation, The Heart Foundation
of Malaysia, Yayasan Nanyang Press, Malaysian Red
Crescent Society and St. John Ambulance Malaysia.  

The Group continued to support the development of
sports by contributing RM1 million each to Football
Association of Malaysia and Le Tour de Langkawi
cycling event. The Group also sponsored major
s p o rting events organised by Pahang Football
Association, Malaysian Motorcycle Grand Prix,
Malaysian Cricket Association, Malaysian Hockey
Federation and the Malaysia Lawn Bowls Federation.

The Group also contributed in cash and in-kind to the
development of education. More than 100 computers
w e re donated to various primary and secondary
schools throughout the country in 2000. In addition,
the Group donated to numerous education-related
organisations such as the HUAREN Education Fund,
University Pendidikan Sultan Idris and YWCA
Vocational Training Centre. 

During the year, the Group via its associate GSP
continued to contribute 1% of its revenue derived from
the sale to TNB for the National Electricity Supply
Industry Fund in 2000. During the year, GSP also
financially supported 23 students for tert i a ry and
diploma education. 
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Report of the Directors

The Directors of GENTING BERHAD have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements of the Group
and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2000.

PRINCIPALACTIVITIES

The Company is principally an investment holding and management company.

The principal activities of the subsidiary companies include leisure and hospitality, gaming and entertainment businesses,
plantations, property development and management, tours and travel related services, investments, manufacturing and trading
in paper and paper related products and oil and gas exploration.

The principal activities of the associated companies include cruise and cruise related operations and the generation and supply
of electric power.

Details of the principal activities of the Group are set out in Note 39 to the financial statements.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Group and of the Company during the financial year.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Group Company

RM Million RM Million

(Loss)/profit from ordinary activities before taxation (322.7) 379.4 
Taxation (352.0) (104.4)

(Loss)/profit from ordinary activities after taxation (674.7) 275.0 
Minority shareholders’ interests 429.2 -

Net (loss)/profit for the year (245.5) 275.0 

DIVIDENDS

Dividends paid by the Company since the end of the previous financial year were:

(i) a  final dividend of 12.5 sen less 28% tax per ordinary share of 50 sen each amounting to RM63,390,505.86 in respect of
the financial year ended 31 December 1999 was paid on 31 July 2000; and 

(ii) an interim dividend of 6.5 sen less 28% tax per ordinary share of 50 sen each amounting to RM32,963,064.98 in respect
of the financial year ended 31 December 2000 was paid on 31 October 2000.

The Directors recommend payment of a final dividend of 12.5 sen less 28% tax per ordinary share of 50 sen each in respect of
the current financial year to be paid on 30 July 2001 to shareholders registered in the Register of Members at the close of
business on 9 July 2001. Based on the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company as at the date of this report, the final
dividend would amount to RM63,390,505.86.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

There were no other material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as disclosed in the
financial statements.

ISSUE OF SHARES, DEBENTURES AND SHARE OPTION

There were no issue of shares or debentures during the financial year.

The following Option to take up unissued ordinary shares of the Company previously granted to executive employees of the
Group under The Genting Employees’ Share Option Scheme for Executives were outstanding as at 31 December 2000:

Subscription price
Option expiry date per share No. of shares

15 December 2004 RM19.80 3,412,000

The shares under the aforesaid Option may be exercised in full or in respect of 1,000 shares or a multiple thereof on the payment
of the requisite subscription price at any time before the Option expiry date. The persons to whom the Option has been issued
have no right to participate by virtue of the Option in any share issue of any other company.



G E N T I N G  BE R H A D        A nn u a l  R e p o r t  20 0 016

DIRECTORATE

The Directors who served since the date of the last report are:

Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong
Tun Mohammed Hanif bin Omar 
Dato’Lim Kok Thay
Mr Colin Au Fook Yew (Resigned on 16 November 2000)
Mr Quah Chek Tin 
Encik Nik Hashim bin Nik Yusoff
Tan Sri Mohd Amin bin Osman
Tan Sri Gunn Chit Tuan
Mr Teo Eng Siong (Ceased to be the Alternate to Mr Colin Au Fook Yew on 16 November 2000)

According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings, the following persons who were Directors of the Company  at  the  end  of
the financial year have interests in shares of the Company, Resorts World Bhd, Asiatic Development Berhad and Genting
International PLC, all of which are subsidiaries of the Company as set out below:

INTEREST IN THE COMPANY

Shareholdings in the names of Directors 
1.1.2000 Acquired/(Disposed) 31.12.2000

(Number of ordinary shares of 50 sen each)

Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong 6,681,000 - 6,681,000
Tun Mohammed Hanif bin Omar - 200 200
Dato’ Lim Kok Thay 2,553,000 784,200 3,337,200
Mr Quah Chek Tin 1,000 - 1,000
Tan Sri Mohd Amin bin Osman 8,000 - 8,000

Shareholdings in which the Director 
is deemed to have an interest

1.1.2000 Acquired/(Disposed) 31.12.2000
(Number of ordinary shares of 50 sen each)

Dato’Lim Kok Thay 11,523,996 - 11,523,996

Share Option in the names of Directors 
1.1.2000 Offered/(Exercised) 31.12.2000

(Number of unissued ordinary shares of 50 sen each)

Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong 600,000 - 600,000
Tun Mohammed Hanif bin Omar 500,000 - 500,000
Dato’Lim Kok Thay 400,000 - 400,000
Tan Sri Mohd Amin bin Osman 400,000 - 400,000

INTEREST IN RESORTS WORLD BHD

Shareholdings in the names of Directors 
1.1.2000 Acquired/(Disposed) 31.12.2000

(Number of ordinary shares of 50 sen each)

Dato’ Lim Kok Thay - 1,629,000 
(711,000) 918,000

Tun Mohammed Hanif bin Omar - 1,000 1,000
Mr Quah Chek Tin 1,000 - 1,000
Tan Sri Mohd Amin bin Osman 122,000 - 122,000

Share Option in the names of Directors 
1.1.2000 Offered/(Exercised) 31.12.2000

(Number of unissued ordinary shares of 50 sen each)

Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong 300,000 - 300,000
Tun Mohammed Hanif bin Omar 500,000 - 500,000
Dato’ Lim Kok Thay 175,000 - 175,000

INTEREST IN ASIATIC DEVELOPMENT BERHAD

Shareholdings in the names of Directors 
1.1.2000 Acquired/(Disposed) 31.12.2000

(Number of ordinary shares of 50 sen each)

Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong 437,500 - 437,500
Dato’ Lim Kok Thay 144,000 - 144,000
Tan Sri Mohd Amin bin Osman 164,000 - 164,000
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INTEREST IN GENTING INTERNATIONAL PLC

Shareholdings in the name of Director 
1.1.2000 Acquired/(Disposed) 31.12.2000

(Number of ordinary shares of US$0.10 each)

Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong 1,832,468 - 1,832,468

Apart from the above disclosures:

(a) the Directors of the Company do not have any other interests in shares in the Company and in shares in other related
corporations of the Company either at the beginning or end of the financial year; and

(b) neither during nor at the end of the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose object is to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit
(other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the Directors and the
provision for Directors’ retirement gratuities shown in the financial statements or the fixed salary of a full-time employee of the
Company) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which he is
a member or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest except for any benefit which may be deemed to
have arisen by virtue of the following transactions:

(i) Resorts World Limited (“RWL”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Resorts World Bhd (“RWB”), which in turn is a 55.2%
owned subsidiary of the Company has subscribed for a total of 609,781,993 Ordinary Shares of US$0.10 each in a
corporation in which Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong and Dato’ Lim Kok Thay have interests as set out below via the conversion of
US$442,499,850 out of the US$480 million Floating Rate Convertible Unsecured Loan Notes (“Notes”) issued to RWL
under the Note Purchase Agreements between the corporation and RWL; and repaid RWL the remaining Notes of
US$37,500,150 not converted into ordinary shares of the corporation:

(a) Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong is a shareholder of the corporation, a preference unit holder of a Trust which is a substantial
shareholder of the corporation (“the Trust”), and has a deemed interest in the units of the Trust by virtue of him being
a beneficiary of a discretionary trust which holds the units in the Trust.

(b) Dato’Lim Kok Thay is a director, shareholder and call option holder of the corporation, a director of another corporation
which is  the trustee of the Trust, a preference unit holder of the Trust, and has a deemed interest in the units of the
Trust by virtue of him being a beneficiary of a discretionary trust which holds the units in the Trust.

(ii) RWL, Genting Overseas Holdings Limited and Palomino Limited, all of which are subsidiaries of the Company have
disposed of a total of 29,110,200 Ordinary Shares of Norwegian Kroner 2.30 each representing  approximately 10.88% in
NCL Holding ASAto a corporation in which Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong and Dato’Lim Kok Thay have interests as set out below:

(a) Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong is a shareholder of the holding company of the corporation, a preference unit holder of a Trust
which is a substantial shareholder of the holding company of the corporation (“the Trust”), and has a deemed interest
in the units of the Trust by virtue of him being a beneficiary of a discretionary trust which holds the units in the Trust.

(b) Dato’ Lim Kok Thay is a director, shareholder and call option holder of the holding company of the corporation, a
director of another corporation which is the trustee of the Trust, a preference unit holder of the Trust, and has a
deemed interest in the units of the Trust by virtue of him being a beneficiary of a discretionary trust which holds the
units in the Trust.

(iii) A company in which Dato’ Lim Kok Thay is a director and a substantial shareholder has retained Asiatic Development
Berhad, a subsidiary of the Company to provide plantation advisory services.

(iv) A company in which Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong is a director and a substantial shareholder has:

(a) rented approximately 5.87 hectares of land in the Mukim of Batang Kali, District of Ulu Selangor, Selangor to Genting
Utilities & Services Sdn Bhd, a wholly owned subsidiary of RWB; and

(b) acquired approximately 3.04 hectares of freehold vacant land in the Mukim and District of Bentong, Pahang Darul
Makmur from Genting Highlands Berhad, a wholly owned subsidiary of RWB.

(v) Genting Centre of Excellence Sdn Bhd, a 70% owned subsidiary of RWB has acquired approximately 3.04 hectares of
leasehold vacant land in the Mukim and District of Bentong, Pahang Darul Makmur from Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong.
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(vi) Tan Sri Mohd Amin bin Osman has been retained as a consultant to provide management and ancillary services to the
Company and retained by RWB to provide advisory services.

Encik Nik Hashim bin Nik Yusoff is due to retire by rotation in accordance with Article 99 of the Articles of Association of the
Company and he, being eligible, has offered himself for re-election.

Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong, Tan Sri Mohd Amin bin Osman and Tan Sri Gunn Chit Tuan retire pursuant to Section 129 of the
Companies Act, 1965 and that separate resolutions will be proposed for their re-appointment as Directors under the provision of
Section 129 (6) of the said Act to hold office until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

Before the income statements and balance sheets of the Group and of the Company were made out, the Directors took
reasonable steps:

(i) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowances for
doubtful debts, and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and adequate allowance been made
for doubtful debts; and

(ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise in the ordinary course of business their values as shown in
the accounting records, were written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

(i) which would render the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in the Group and
in the Company inadequate to any substantial extent;

(ii) which would render the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group or of the Company
misleading;

(iii) which have arisen which render adherence to the existing methods of valuation of assets or liabilities in the financial
statements of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate; and

(iv) not otherwise dealt with in this report or in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, that would render any
amount stated in the respective financial statements misleading.

At the date of this report there does not exist:

(i) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial  year which secures
the liabilities of any other person; or

(ii) any contingent liability in respect of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year.

No contingent or other liability of the Group or of the Company has become enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable within
the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or may substantially
affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due.

In the opinion of the Directors:

(i) the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year have not been substantially affected
by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature except for those highlighted in the financial statements;
and

(ii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the financial
year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group and of the
Company for the financial year in which this report is made.

AUDITORS

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, have indicated their willingness to continue in office.

On behalf of the Board,

TUN MOHAMMED HANIF BIN OMAR DATO’ LIM KOK THAY
Deputy Chairman Managing Director

Kuala Lumpur
18 April 2001
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Income Statements
For The Financial Year Ended 31 December 2000

G E N T I N G  BE R HA D        A n nu a l  R e p o r t  20 0020

Amounts in RM million unless otherwise stated Group Company
Note(s) 2000 1999 2000 1999

Revenue 3, 4 & 5 3,338.6 3,077.4 372.8 353.9 

Cost of sales 6 (2,469.3) (1,797.9) (32.2) (46.3)

Gross profit 869.3 1,279.5 340.6 307.6 

Other  income 7 136.7 347.9 46.1 60.8 

Selling and distribution costs (54.1) (64.5) - -

Administration expenses (203.2) (206.8) (6.8) (7.7)

Other expenses (26.5) (16.6) (0.5) -

Profit from operations 722.2 1,339.5 379.4 360.7 

Finance cost (48.0) (7.6) - -

Share of results of associated companies 50.3 189.5 - -

Write-off of goodwill arising on acquisition of
additional interest in an associated company (1,047.2) - - -

(Loss)/profit from ordinary activities before taxation 4, 8 & 9 (322.7) 1,521.4 379.4 360.7 

Taxation 
- Company and subsidiaries 10 (301.7) (0.4) (104.4) (33.6)
- Share of tax in associated companies 10 (50.3) (15.3) - -

(Loss)/profit from ordinary activities after taxation (674.7) 1,505.7 275.0 327.1 

Minority shareholders’ interests 429.2 (404.6) - -

Net (loss)/profit for the year (245.5) 1,101.1 275.0 327.1 

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (sen) 31 (34.9) 156.3 

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (sen) 31 N/A N/A

Gross dividends per share (sen) 11 19.0 19.0 

The notes set out on pages 25 to 49 form part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheets
As At 31 December 2000

Amounts in RM million unless otherwise stated Group Company
Note 2000 1999 2000 1999

ASSETS
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12 4,194.9 3,701.1 9.0 8.4
REAL PROPERTY ASSETS 13 631.2 653.6 - -
SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 14 - - 1,987.4 1,985.5
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES 15 1,927.2 1,446.2 - -
OTHER LONG TERM INVESTMENTS 16 114.0 167.0 - -
EXPLORATION COST 439.2 437.6 - -
LONG TERM RECEIVABLES 20 10.1 3.7 - -
DEFERRED TAXATION 17 - - 17.7 16.9

CURRENT ASSETS
Property development 18 117.3 103.8 - -
Inventories 19 227.8 235.6 - -
Trade receivables 20 126.9 145.3 - -
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 21 114.6 149.3 1.6 1.0
Amount due from subsidiary companies 14 - - 890.7 160.7
Amount due from associated companies 15 4.1 3.1 - -
Short term investments 22 546.8 981.9 125.6 125.2
Bank balances and deposits 23 846.7 1,410.6 72.8 617.1

1,984.2 3,029.6 1,090.7 904.0

LESS : CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables 106.7 102.8 - -
Amount due to subsidiary companies 14 - - 27.8 29.1
Other payables and accrued expenses 24 430.5 337.9 11.2 10.0
Short term borrowings 25 385.6 0.8 - -
Taxation 269.0 279.9 9.6 0.5
Proposed dividend 63.4 63.4 63.4 63.4

1,255.2 784.8 112.0 103.0 

NET CURRENT ASSETS 729.0 2,244.8 978.7 801.0  

8,045.6 8,654.0  2,992.8 2,811.8  
FINANCED BY

SHARE CAPITAL 26 352.2 352.2 352.2 352.2
RESERVES 27 5,031.9 5,436.7 2,570.9 2,392.2

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 5,384.1 5,788.9  2,923.1 2,744.4  
MINORITY INTERESTS 2,046.6 2,574.9  - -
LONG TERM LIABILITIES

Long term loans 28 406.6 101.6 - -
Deferred taxation 17 15.2 16.0 - -
Provision for retirement gratuities 30 179.8 167.5  69.7 67.4  
Other liabilities 29 13.3 5.1  - -

Total long term liabilities 614.9 290.2  69.7 67.4  

8,045.6 8,654.0  2,992.8 2,811.8  

NET TANGIBLE ASSETS PER SHARE RM7.64 RM8.22  

The notes set out on pages 25 to 49 form part of these financial statements.
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Amounts in RM million unless otherwise stated
Non-Distributable Distributable

Reserve on
Share Share Revaluation Exchange Unappropriated

GROUP Note Capital Premium Reserve Differences Profit Total

Balance at 1 January 1999 352.2 97.8 404.2 107.4 3,811.5 4,773.1 
Currency translation differences n o t
recognised in the income statement - - - 11.0 - 11.0 

Net profit for the year - - - - 1,101.1 1,101.1 
Appropriation:
Dividends 

- interim (6.5 sen less 28% income tax) 11 - - - - (32.9) (32.9)
- proposed final (12.5 sen less 

28% income tax) 11 - - - - (63.4) (63.4)

Balance at 31 December 1999 352.2 97.8 404.2 118.4 4,816.3 5,788.9 

Revaluation surplus realised 
upon sale of assets - - (19.7) - 19.7 -

Currency translation differences - - - (64.3) - (64.3)

Net loss not recognised in the 
income statement - - (19.7) (64.3) 19.7 (64.3)

Minority interests’ share of 
revaluation reserves realised - - - - 1.3 1.3

Net loss for the year - - - - (245.5) (245.5)
Appropriation:
Dividends 

- interim (6.5 sen less 28% income tax) 11 - - - - (32.9) (32.9)
- proposed final (12.5 sen less 

28% income tax) 11 - - - - (63.4) (63.4)

Balance at 31 December 2000 352.2 97.8 384.5 54.1 4,495.5 5,384.1 

COMPANY

Balance at 1 January 1999 352.2 97.8 - - 2,063.6 2,513.6 
Net profit for the year - - - - 327.1 327.1 
Appropriation:
Dividends 

- interim (6.5 sen less 28% income tax) 11 - - - - (32.9) (32.9)
- proposed final (12.5 sen less

28% income tax) 11 - - - - (63.4) (63.4)

Balance at 31 December 1999 352.2 97.8 - - 2,294.4 2,744.4 

Net profit for the year - - - - 275.0 275.0 
Appropriation:
Dividends 

- interim (6.5 sen less 28% income tax) 11 - - - - (32.9) (32.9)
- proposed final (12.5 sen less

28% income tax) 11 - - - - (63.4) (63.4)

Balance at 31 December 2000 352.2 97.8 - - 2,473.1 2,923.1 

The notes set out on pages 25 to 49 form part of these financial statements.

Statements of Changes in Equity
For The Financial Year Ended 31 December 2000
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Amounts in RM million unless otherwise stated Group Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit from ordinary activities before taxation (322.7) 1,521.4 379.4 360.7 
Adjustments for:

Write-off of goodwill on acquisition of additional 
interest in an associated company 1,047.2 - - -

Loss/(gain) on disposal of investments 256.8 (28.9) - -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) 222.8 226.6 1.8 1.5
Allowance for/(write back of) diminution in value 

of short term investments 130.3 (15.2) (0.1) 0.1
Interest expense 47.7 7.2 - -
Exploration costs written off 34.3 - - -
Investments written down 14.7 68.6 - -
Provision for retirement gratuities 12.6 11.5 2.3 6.3
PPE written-off 1.9 0.7 - -
(Write back of)/allowance for bad and doubtful debts (8.1) (14.4) 0.2 -
Gain on disposal of PPE and real property assets (“RPA”) (8.4) (60.6) (0.2) -
Dividend income (13.3) (4.2) (137.9) (130.4)
Share in profits of associated companies (50.3) (189.5) - -
Interest income (109.0) (79.4) (42.2) (31.3)
Loss on liquidation of subsidiary companies - 10.5 - -
Loss on currency translation - 0.2 - 0.1
Gain arising on dilution of interest in 

subsidiary companies - (156.8) - (29.2)
Gain arising on issuance of shares to minority interests 

by a subsidiary company - (36.0) - -
Loss on reclassification of investment - - 0.6 -
Other non-cash items (6.5) 3.7 - -

1,572.7 (256.0) (175.5) (182.9)

Operating profit before changes in working capital 1,250.0 1,265.4 203.9 177.8 

(Increase)/decrease in property development (7.3) 102.9 - -
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 7.8 (127.8) - -
Decrease/(increase) in receivables 55.2 (32.4) (0.8) 0.4
Increase/(decrease) in payables 31.6 (25.6) 1.2 (4.3)
Increase in amount due from subsidiary companies - - (8.3) (10.8)

87.3 (82.9) (7.9) (14.7)

Cash generated from operations 1,337.3 1,182.5 196.0 163.1 

Taxation paid (310.1) (313.0) (96.1) (105.8)
Retirement gratuities paid (0.3) (0.8) - -
Advance membership fees/unearned premiums received 1.7 1.4 - -

(308.7) (312.4) (96.1) (105.8)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,028.6 870.1 99.9 57.3 

The notes set out on pages 25 to 49 form part of these financial statements.

Cash Flow Statements
For The Financial Year Ended 31 December 2000
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Amounts in RM million unless otherwise stated Group Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Subscription in floating rate convertible unsecured 

loan notes (“CULNS”) issued by an associated company (1,824.0) - - -
Purchase of PPE (667.8) (383.9) (3.0) (2.3)
Purchase of investments (266.8) (1,003.7) (0.1) (6.1)
Exploration cost incurred (35.7) (38.4) - -
Real property expenditure incurred (25.7) (27.1) - -
Advances to associated companies (1.0) (13.3) - -
Repayments from associated companies 0.1 42.5 - -
Distributions received from an associated company 0.4 15.4 - -
Disposal of an indirect subsidiary company* 5.9 - - -
Dividends received 13.3 4.2 137.9 121.3
Proceeds from disposal of PPE and RPA 33.1 65.3 0.9 -
Redemption of preference shares by an associated company 100.0 4.3 - -
Interest received 111.3 80.0 38.0 31.3
Refund of CULNS by an associated company 142.5 - - -
Proceeds from disposal of investments 389.4 167.6 - 31.2
Proceeds from sale of shares to minority shareholders - 258.5 - -
Loan to a subsidiary company - - (683.5) -
Other advances to subsidiary companies - - (91.4) (22.0)
Repayment of loan by a subsidiary company - - 12.9 15.8
Repayments of other advances by subsidiary companies - - 43.2 26.5

NET CASH (USED IN)/INFLOW FROM INVESTING A C T I V I T I E S (2,025.0) (828.6) (545.1) 195.7 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid (96.3) (93.8) (96.3) (93.8)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders (75.6) (70.4) - -
Interest paid (44.7) (10.7) - -
Repayment of borrowings (14.3) - - -
Proceeds from bank borrowings 702.1 - - -

NET CASH INFLOW FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 471.2 (174.9) (96.3) (93.8)

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVA L E N T S (525.2) (133.4) (541.5) 159.2 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE Y E A R 1,630.3 1,763.6 739.9 580.8 

EFFECT OF CURRENCY TRANSLATION (1.7) 0.1   - -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 1,103.4 1,630.3  198.4 740.0 

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and deposits 846.7 1,410.6 72.8 617.1
Money market instruments 259.4 220.3 125.6 122.9

1,106.1 1,630.9 198.4 740.0
Bank overdrafts (2.7) (0.6) - -

1,103.4 1,630.3  198.4 740.0 

* ANALYSIS OF THE DISPOSAL OF AN INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY COMPANY

Group
2000 1999

Net assets sold:
Property, plant & equipment 14.7 -
Other receivables 1.8 -
Other payables (0.4) -
Short term borrowings (0.2) -
Minority interest (15.9) -
Gain on disposal 5.9 -

Total sales consideration 5.9 -
Cash and bank balances of subsidiary company disposed of - -

Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiary company 5.9 -

The notes set out on pages 25 to 49 form part of these financial statements.
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Amounts in RM million unless otherwise stated

1. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is principally an investment holding and management company.

The principal activities of the subsidiary companies include leisure and hospitality, gaming and entertainment
businesses, plantations, property development and management, tours and travel related services, investments,
manufacturing and trading in paper and paper related products and oil and gas exploration.

The principal activities of the associated companies include cruise and cruise related operations and the generation
and supply of electric power.

Details of the principal activities of the Group are set out in Note 39 to the financial statements.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Group and of the Company during the
financial year.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with and comply with the applicable approved accounting
standards in Malaysia and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965. The historical cost convention modified by the
revaluation of certain property, plant and equipment and land held for development, unless otherwise indicated in the
individual policy statements set out in Note 3 to the financial statements, were adopted in the preparation of the
financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the applicable approved accounting standards and the
provisions of the Companies Act require the Directors to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the audited financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiary
companies made up to the end of the financial year. Subsidiary companies are those companies in which the Group
has power to exercise control over the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities.

Subsidiary companies are consolidated from the date on which effective control is transferred to the Group and are
no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases. Subsidiary companies are consolidated using the
acquisition method of accounting whereby the results of subsidiary companies acquired or disposed of during the
year are included from the date of acquisition up to the date when control ceases. At the date of acquisition, the fair
values of the subsidiary companies’ net assets are determined and these values are reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

All material intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies
have been eliminated; unrealised losses have also been eliminated unless cost cannot be recovered. Where
necessary, accounting policies for subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group. Separate disclosure is made of minority interests.

The gain or loss on disposal of a subsidiary company is the difference between net disposal proceeds and the Group’s
share of its net assets and exchange differences which were not previously recognised in the consolidated income
s t a t e m e n t .

Borrowing Costs

Costs incurred on external borrowings to finance expenditure and other long term qualifying assets are capitalised
until the assets are ready for their intended use after which such expenses are charged to the income statement.

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2000
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost modified by the revaluation of certain property, plant and equipment
less accumulated depreciation and amortisation. In accordance with the transitional provisions issued by the
Malaysian Accounting Standards Board on adoption of International Accounting Standard No. 16 (revised), Property,
Plant and Equipment, the valuation of these assets have not been updated, and they continue to be stated at their
existing carrying amounts less accumulated depreciation. 

Surpluses arising on revaluation are credited to revaluation reserve. Any deficit arising from revaluation is charged
against the revaluation reserve to the extent of a previous surplus held in the revaluation reserve for the same asset.
In all other cases, a decrease in carrying amount is charged to income statement. On disposal of revalued assets,
amounts in revaluation reserve relating to those assets are transferred to retained earnings.

Freehold land and plantations, and property, plant and equipment which are under construction are not depreciated.

Leasehold properties are amortised equally over their respective periods of lease, ranging from 60 to 99 years.
However, leasehold properties with original lease period of 999 years are not amortised, the cumulative effect of
which is not material to the financial statements.

Other property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
The annual rates of depreciation used for the major classes of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Buildings and improvements 2% – 50%
Plant, equipment and vehicles 5% – 50%

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount. In determining the recoverable amount of items of property, plant and
equipment, expected future cashflows have not been discounted to their present value.

New Planting and Replanting Expenditure

New planting expenditure incurred on land clearing and upkeeping of trees to maturity is capitalised under freehold
and leasehold land respectively. New planting expenditure capitalised under freehold land is not amortised while
those capitalised under leasehold land are amortised in accordance with the depreciation policy of the Group.

Replanting expenditure is charged to the income statement in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

Real Property Assets, Property Development and Profit Recognition

Real property assets and property development comprise of land held for development and are stated at cost of
acquisition modified by the revaluation of certain pieces of land. In accordance with the transitional provisions issued
by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board on adoption of Malaysian Accounting Standard No. 7, Accounting for
Property Development, the valuation of these pieces of land have not been updated, and they continue to be stated
at their carrying amounts. Cost of acquisition includes all related costs incurred on activities necessary to prepare
the land for its intended use. These assets remain as real property assets until the sales launch of these properties,
after which they are transferred to property development.

Assets under property development comprise land at carrying values and all related development costs incurred and
are carried forward together with profit accrued to the appropriate stage of completion less progress billings and
allowance for foreseeable losses, if any. These developments are expected to be completed within normal operating
cycle of one to three years and are considered as current assets.

Upon completion of development, the unsold completed development properties are transferred to inventories.

Profits on property development projects are recognised based on the percentage of completion method. Under this
method, profits are recognised as the property project progresses. The stage of completion is determined based on
the proportion of development costs incurred for work performed up to the balance sheet date over the estimated
total development cost to completion. Profits are, however, recognised only in respect of sales where agreements
have been finalised. Foreseeable losses, if any, are recognised in the income statement.

Investments

Long term investments, both quoted and unquoted, include investments in subsidiary companies, associated
companies and other non current investments. These investments are stated at cost except where the Directors are
of the opinion that there is a permanent diminution in the value of an investment, in which case the investment is
written down. Permanent diminution in the value of an investment is recognised as an expense in the financial period
in which it arises.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Investments (Cont’d)

Investments in subsidiary companies are eliminated on consolidation while investments in associated companies are
accounted for by the equity method of accounting.

Associated companies are companies in which the Group exercises significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the associated companies but not control over
those policies.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associated undertakings are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the associated undertakings; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the assets transferred.

Equity accounting involves recognising in the income statement the Group’s share of the associated companies’
profits less losses for the year. The Group’s interest in associated companies is stated at cost net of goodwill written
off plus adjustments to reflect changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associated companies.

Short term investments are stated at the lower of cost and market value, determined on a portfolio basis by
comparing aggregate cost against aggregate market value.

Exploration Cost

Exploration cost is accounted for in accordance with the full cost method. Under this method, all costs relating to the
exploration activities are capitalised when incurred. Where it is determined that the exploration activities will not yield
significant oil and gas discoveries, the related exploration cost will be written off to the income statement.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on consolidation which represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary/associated companies at the date of acquisition, is written off to the income statement in the
year of acquisition.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes, where relevant appropriate
proportions of overheads and is determined on a weighted average  basis. Net realisable value is the estimate of the
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less costs to completion and selling expenses. Allowance is made
for obsolete and slow moving inventories in determining net realisable value.

Receivables

Receivables are carried at estimated realisable value. An estimate is made for doubtful receivables based on a review
of all outstanding amounts at the financial year end. Bad debts are written off during the financial year in which they
are identified.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments, which include interest rate swap agreements and interest rate and currency swap
agreements, are used in the Group’s risk management of foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures of its
financial liabilities.

The Group uses interest rate swap agreements and interest rate and currency swap agreements in order to lower
funding costs, to diversify sources of funding and to limit the Group’s exposure in relation to underlying debt
instruments resulting from adverse fluctuations in interest rates or foreign currency exchange rates.

Hedge accounting principles are applied for the accounting of the underlying exposures and their respective hedge
derivative instruments. The related interest differentials paid or received under the swap agreements are recognised
over the terms of the agreements in interest expense. The underlying foreign currency liabilities, which have been
effectively hedged by currency swap agreements, and designated as a hedge, are translated in the respective
hedged currencies, at their prevailing rates as at the reporting date.

Provision for Retirement Gratuities

In 1991, the Board introduced a retirement gratuity scheme for executives and executive directors of the Company and
certain subsidiary companies. The amount of the provision for the retirement gratuitites is determined by the Board and
is discretionary.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Deferred Taxation

Deferred tax accounting using the ‘liability’method is adopted by the Group. Deferred taxation provides for the effects
of all material timing differences between accounting income and taxable income arising from the inclusion of items
in different periods. No future income tax benefit is recognised in respect of unutilised tax losses and timing
differences that result in a net deferred taxation asset unless it can be demonstrated that these benefits can be
realised in the foreseeable future.

Foreign Currencies

The financial statements are stated in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”).

Transactions in foreign currencies have been translated into RM at the rates ruling on the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date have been translated at the rates ruling
on that date. Gains and losses arising from translation are included in the income statement. However, translation
gains and losses arising from transactions which provide an effective hedge against investments in foreign
currencies are taken to reserves. The corresponding translation gains and losses arising from such investments are
recognised in the reserves on exchange differences.

Income statements of subsidiary and associated companies in other reporting currencies are translated into RM at
average rates for the year and the balance sheets are translated at the year end rates. Exchange differences arising
from the translation of income statements at average rates and balance sheets at year end rates, and the
restatement at year end rates of the opening net investments in such subsidiary and associated companies are taken
to reserves.

The principal rates of exchange used in translation are as follows:
(Malaysian ringgit to one unit of foreign currency)

Currency Average rate Year end rate
2000 1999 2000 1999

US Dollar 3.8000 3.8000 3.8000 3.8000
Sterling Pound 5.7646 6.1507 5.6791 6.1533
Australian Dollar 2.2105 2.4525 2.1082 2.4837
Singapore Dollar 2.2048 2.2426 2.1915 2.2816
Hong Kong Dollar 0.4877 0.4897 0.4872 0.4888

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank balances (net of bank overdrafts), deposits and other short term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk
of changes in value.

Revenue Recognition

Sales are recognised upon delivery of products or performance of services, net of sales tax and discounts, and after
eliminating sales within the Group. The sales relating to property development projects are recognised progressively
as the project activity progresses and are in respect of sales where agreements have been finalised. The recognition
of sales is based on the percentage of completion method and is consistent with the method adopted for profit
recognition. Sales of short term investments are accounted for when the contracts are executed. Casino revenue
represents net house takings. The casino licence is renewable every three months.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

Proposed Dividends

Dividends on ordinary shares are accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in
the financial year in which they are declared or proposed.
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4. SEGMENT ANALYSIS
Operating Revenue Profit/(Loss) Before Taxation Assets Employed
2000  1999 2000  1999 2000  1999

By activity
Leisure & Hospitality 2,172.2 2,064.3 907.6 779.5 2,918.8 2,611.8
Plantations 163.3 229.0 39.0 96.7 480.2 479.3
Properties 122.5 236.7 21.7 130.1 1,171.9 1,245.1
Paper 445.7 370.0 75.4 61.4 926.2 772.6
Oil & Gas 26.2 - (51.1) 16.2 457.9 447.5

2,929.9 2,900.0 992.6 1,083.9 5,955.0 5,556.3 

Associated companies 1,687.8 702.3 50.3 189.5 1,927.3 1,449.3 

Non-Segment Items
-  interest bearing investments - - 61.3 72.3 975.8 1,362.2
-  equity investments & others 408.7 177.4 (1,426.9) 175.7 442.7 1,071.0

5,026.4 3,779.7 (322.7) 1,521.4 9,300.8 9,438.8 

Adjustment relating to share of
operating revenue of
associated companies (1,687.8) (702.3) - - - -

3,338.6 3,077.4 (322.7) 1,521.4 9,300.8 9,438.8 

By geographical location
Malaysia 3,206.4 3,204.2 1,145.5 1,173.0 5,744.8 5,414.6
Outside Malaysia 1,411.3 398.1 (102.6) 100.4 2,137.5 1,591.0
Non-Segment Items
-  interest bearing investments - - 61.3 72.3 975.8 1,362.2
-  equity investments & others 408.7 177.4 (1,426.9) 175.7 442.7 1,071.0

5,026.4 3,779.7 (322.7) 1,521.4 9,300.8 9,438.8 

Adjustment relating to share of
operating revenue of
associated companies (1,687.8) (702.3) - - - -

3,338.6 3,077.4 (322.7) 1,521.4 9,300.8 9,438.8 

Included in profit/(loss) before taxation of equity investments & others for the current financial year is the write-off
of goodwill arising on acquisition of additional interest in an associated company amounting to RM1,047.2 million.

Interest income, interest expense, short term deposits and investments are not attributable to any activity and
geographical segment and are therefore included under Non-Segment Items. Immaterial segments are not
separately identified and, for presentation purposes, are also included under Non-Segment Items.

5. REVENUE
Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
Rendering of services:

Leisure & Hospitality 2,172.2 2,064.3 - -
Rental income 14.0 18.8 - -
Fees from management and licencing services - - 234.9 223.5
Insurance & other services 3.4 4.0 - -

Sale of goods:
Sale of paper and paper related products 445.7 370.0 - -
Sale of plantation produce 163.3 229.0 - -
Sale of properties & progressive sales on

property development projects 108.5 217.9 - -
Exploration of oil and gas 26.2 - - -
Others 2.6 1.5 - -

Sale of investments 389.4 167.7 - -
Dividend income 13.3 4.2 137.9 130.4 

3,338.6 3,077.4 372.8 353.9 
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6. COST OF SALES

Included in cost of sales for the current financial year is an amount of RM646.2 million representing cost of short
term investments disposed of during the year. Of this amount, RM482.6 million arose from the disposal of NCL
Holding ASA, which resulted in a loss of RM308.8 million.

Cost of sales for the current financial year also includes an allowance for the diminution in value of short term
investments held at the end of the financial year amounting to RM130.3 million.

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the current financial year include produce stocks and finished
goods amounting to RM474.8 million (1999: RM387.5 million) and cost of completed properties of RM68.2 million
(1999: RM93.8 million).

7. OTHER INCOME Group
2000 1999

Included in other income for the preceding financial year are the following exceptional items:
-  Gain arising on dilution of interest in subsidiary companies - 156.8
-  Surplus arising from freehold land and plantations acquired by the Government - 54.9

- 211.7

8. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

(Loss)/profit before taxation has been determined after 
inclusion of the following charges and credits:

Group Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Charges:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 222,843 226,590  1,818 1,500   
Property, plant and equipment written off 1,880 736  - -
Net loss on disposal of short term investments 256,790 - - -
Allowance for diminution in value of short term investments 130,277 - - 62  
Exploration costs written off 34,282 - - -
Long term investments written down 14,657 67,816  - -
Short term investments written down - 821  - -
Net provision for retirement gratuities 385 - - -
Replanting expenditure 5,026 4,557  - -
Hire of equipment 7,594 4,938  - -
Rental of land and buildings 8,623 7,708  - -
Interest on borrowings 47,659 7,162  - -
Auditors’ remuneration 752 633  34 20  
Net exchange losses - realised 488 3,364  3 2
Net exchange losses - unrealised 117 - 34 69  
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts - - 159 -

Expenditure paid to subsidiary companies:
-  Rental of land and buildings - - 1,809 1,823
-  Rental of equipment - - 437 -
-  Service fees - - 442 -
Staff costs 384,082 409,563  32,187 46,290  

Credits:
Interest income 108,993 79,430  13,122 25,446  
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6,968 60,617  172 29  
Gain on disposal of real property assets 1,465 - - -
Net gain on disposal of short term investments - 28,949  - -
Rental income from land and buildings 28,412 31,452  - -
Net write back of provision for retirement gratuities - 2,415  - 592  
Write back of allowance for diminution in value 

of short term investments - 15,169  62 -
Write back of allowance for bad and doubtful debts 8,060 14,388  - -
Net exchange gains - unrealised - 439  - -
Dividends (gross) from:
-  Quoted local companies 2,123 1,478  60 78
-  Quoted foreign corporations 11,144 2,770  - -

Income from subsidiary companies:
-  Management and licensing fees - - 234,836 223,444
-  Gross dividends - - 137,852 130,372
-  Interest income - - 29,057 5,871
-  Shared services fees - - 3,493 230
-  Royalty - - 100 -

Other information:
Number of employees at year end (thousands) 15 14 0.1 0.1 
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Fees 681 706 399 393 
Professional fees 747 585 240 240 
Other emoluments 49,528 91,459 22,421 30,668 
Provision for retirement gratuities 12,265 13,875 2,297 6,907 
Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind 339 348 131 217 

63,560 106,973 25,488 38,425 

10. TAXATION
Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999

Current taxation:
Malaysian taxation 300.0 0.5 105.2 34.0 
Foreign taxation 1.2 0.7 - -

301.2 1.2 105.2 34.0 

Under provision in respect of prior years - 0.6 - 1.4 
Deferred taxation 0.5 (1.4) (0.8) (1.8)
Share of taxation of associated companies 50.3 15.3 - -

352.0 15.7 104.4 33.6 

The effective tax rate for the Group for the current financial year is higher than the statutory tax rate due to the write-
off of goodwill arising on acquisition of additional interest in an associated company by a subsidiary company, losses
incurred on disposal of overseas short term investments and allowance for diminution in value of short term
investments held by the Group as at the end of the current financial year as disclosed in Note 6.

No provision for Malaysian taxation was made in 1999 as it was an income tax waiver year, pursuant to Section 8,
part III of the Income Tax (Amendment) Act, 1999. The taxation charge of the Company for 1999 relates to tax at
source on dividend income received.

Subject to agreement by the Inland Revenue Board, the amount of unutilised tax losses of subsidiary companies
available for which the related tax effects have not been recognised in the net income amounted to RM86.8 million
as at the financial year end (1999: RM82.5 million). The amount of tax saving for which credit is recognised during
the financial year is RM0.3 million (1999: RM Nil).

11. DIVIDENDS
2000 1999

Interim paid - 6.5 sen less 28% tax 
[1999 - 6.5 sen less 28% tax] per ordinary share of 50 sen each 32.9 32.9 

Proposed final -12.5 sen less 28% tax
[1999 - 12.5 sen less 28% tax] per ordinary share of 50 sen each 63.4 63.4 

96.3 96.3 
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Long Freehold Leasehold Plant,
Freehold leasehold Short buildings buildings equipment Construction

2000 land and land and leasehold and and and in
Group plantations plantations land improvements improvements vehicles progress Total

Cost except as 
otherwise stated:

Beginning of the year 400.1 311.0 1.2 1,898.8 222.2 1,734.6 370.1 4,938.0 
Additions 6.0 11.1 - 5.7 1.1 62.2 647.8 733.9
Disposals (0.6) (0.1) - - (5.3) (3.7) - (9.7)
Written off - - - (0.1) - (2.1) (1.3) (3.5)
Disposal of indirect 

subsidiary company - - (1.2) - - - (13.9) (15.1)
Reclassifications/

transfers 3.5 2.4 - 402.2 (7.8) 83.4 (476.9) 6.8 
Currency fluctuations - - - - - (1.3) (0.7) (2.0)
Others - 0.3 - 0.3 (0.7) 0.5 - 0.4 

End of the year 409.0 324.7  - 2,306.9 209.5 1,873.6 525.1 5,648.8

Accumulated depreciation:

Beginning of the year - (10.9) (0.5) (260.8) (13.4) (951.3) - (1,236.9)
Charge for the year - (3.1) - (48.5) (5.3) (165.9) - (222.8)
Disposals - - - - 0.6 3.0 - 3.6
Written off - - - 0.1  - 1.6 - 1.7
Disposal of indirect

subsidiary company - - 0.5 - - - - 0.5
Reclassifications/

transfers - (1.5) - (19.3) (0.1) 19.2 - (1.7)
Currency fluctuations - - - - - 1.3 - 1.3
Others - (0.4) - - - 0.8 - 0.4 

End of the year - (15.9) - (328.5) (18.2) (1,091.3) - (1,453.9)

Net book value at 
end of the year 409.0 308.8 - 1,978.4 191.3 782.3 525.1 4,194.9 

Comprising:
Cost 75.3 281.2 - 2,111.3 209.5 1,862.1 525.1 5,064.5
At valuation:
-  1981 118.9 - - - - - - 118.9
-  1982 8.8 - - 76.7 - 2.9 - 88.4
-  1983 106.7 - - 2.3 - - - 109.0
-  1986 - - - - - 8.6 - 8.6
-  1989 83.3 - - 115.9 - - - 199.2
-  1991 - 34.0 - 0.7 - - - 34.7
-  1995 - 9.5 - - - - - 9.5
-  1996 16.0 - - - - - - 16.0

409.0 324.7 - 2,306.9 209.5 1,873.6 525.1 5,648.8
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

Long Freehold Leasehold Plant,
Freehold leasehold Short buildings buildings equipment Construction

1999 land and land and leasehold and and and in
Group plantations plantations land improvements improvements vehicles progress Total

Cost except as 
otherwise stated:

Beginning of the year 404.0 313.4 1.2 1,767.3 207.9 1,669.2 159.5 4,522.5 
Additions 0.1 7.1 - 2.7 8.9 33.0 332.1 383.9 
Disposals (2.3) (1.0) - - - (4.3) - (7.6)
Written off - - - (0.9) - (1.4) - (2.3)
Transfer from 

investment properties - - - 73.7 - - - 73.7 
Reclassifications/

transfers (1.7) (8.8) - 56.0 6.0 37.4 (117.3) (28.4)
Currency fluctuations - - - - - (0.2) (0.2) (0.4)
Others - 0.3 - - (0.6) 0.9 (4.0) (3.4)

End of the year 400.1 311.0 1.2 1,898.8 222.2 1,734.6 370.1 4,938.0 

Accumulated depreciation:

Beginning of the year - (8.3) (0.4) (199.7) (8.1) (798.9) - (1,015.4)
Charge for the year - (2.6) (0.1) (61.8) (5.0) (157.1) - (226.6)
Disposals - - - - - 3.0 - 3.0 
Written off - - - 0.4 - 1.2 - 1.6 
Currency fluctuations - - - - - 0.2 - 0.2 
Others - - - 0.3 (0.3) 0.3 - 0.3 

End of the year - (10.9) (0.5) (260.8) (13.4) (951.3) - (1,236.9)

Net book value at
end of the year 400.1 300.1 0.7 1,638.0 208.8 783.3 370.1 3,701.1 

Comprising:
Cost 58.9 267.5 1.2 1,730.5 222.2 1,695.8 370.1 4,346.2 
At valuation:
-  1981 119.3 - - - - - - 119.3 
-  1982 8.8 - - 49.4 - 30.2 - 88.4 
-  1983 112.1 - - 2.3 - - - 114.4 
-  1986 - - - - - 8.6 - 8.6 
-  1989 83.3 - - 115.9 - - - 199.2 
-  1991 - 34.0 - 0.7 - - - 34.7 
-  1995 - 9.5 - - - - - 9.5 
-  1996 17.7 - - - - - - 17.7 

400.1 311.0 1.2 1,898.8 222.2 1,734.6 370.1 4,938.0

Fixed assets have been revalued by the Directors based upon valuations carried out by independent firms of
professional valuers using the fair market value basis except for assets revalued in 1991, which were based on the
values determined by a regulatory authority in connection with a restructuring exercise.

In accordance with the transitional provisions issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board on adoption of
International Accounting Standard No. 16 (revised), Property, Plant and Equipment, the valuation of these assets
have not been updated, and they continue to be stated at their existing carrying amounts less depreciation. 

The net book value of the revalued assets of the Group would have amounted to RM323.9 million (1999: RM327.8
million) had such assets been stated in the financial statements at cost.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

Freehold Plant,
buildings equipment

2000 and and Work
Company improvements vehicles in progress Total

Cost:

Beginning of the year 8.8 15.0 - 23.8 
Intragroup transfer - (1.3) - (1.3)
Additions - 2.8 0.2 3.0 
Disposals - (0.4) - (0.4)
Written off - (0.1) - (0.1)

End of the year 8.8 16.0 0.2 25.0 

Accumulated Depreciation:

Beginning of the year (3.9) (11.5) - (15.4)
Charge for the year (0.3) (1.5) - (1.8)
Intragroup transfer - 0.9 - 0.9
Disposals - 0.2  - 0.2
Written off - 0.1 - 0.1

End of the year (4.2) (11.8) - (16.0)

Net book value at end of the year 4.6 4.2 0.2 9.0 

1999
Company

Cost:

Beginning of the year 7.5  14.1  - 21.6  
Intragroup transfer 1.3  0.7  - 2.0 
Additions - 0.3  - 0.3  
Disposals - (0.1) - (0.1)

End of the year 8.8  15.0  - 23.8 

Accumulated Depreciation:

Beginning of the year (3.6) (10.4) - (14.0)
Charge for the year (0.3) (1.2) - (1.5)
Disposals - 0.1  - 0.1  

End of the year (3.9) (11.5) - (15.4)

Net book value at end of the year 4.9  3.5  - 8.4 

13. REAL PROPERTY ASSETS
Group

2000 1999 
Land held for development:

At cost 111.6 120.5
At valuation - 1981 7.9 7.9
At valuation - 1983 47.9 48.0
At valuation - 1989 163.9 181.4
At valuation - 1995 74.6 74.6
At valuation - 1996 40.9 50.5

446.8 482.9 
Development expenditure 184.4 170.7 

631.2 653.6 

The bases of valuation of land held for development are consistent with those indicated in Note 12.

In accordance with the transitional provisions issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board on adoption of
Malaysian Accounting Standard No. 7, Accounting for Property Development, the valuation of these pieces of land
have not been updated, and they continue to be stated at their existing carrying amounts.
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14. SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
Company

2000 1999
Non current:

Quoted shares in Malaysia, at cost 569.7 567.9
Unquoted shares, at cost 1,417.7 1,417.6

1,987.4 1,985.5 
Current:

Amount due from subsidiary companies - interest bearing portion 748.8 69.6
- interest free portion 141.9 91.1

890.7 160.7
Amount due to subsidiary companies (27.8) (29.1)

2,850.3 2,117.1 

Market value of quoted shares 3,977.7 7,100.1 

The amount due from subsidiary companies is unsecured and has no fixed repayment terms. The interest bearing
portion bears interest at rates ranging from 0.25% to 1% (1999: 0.25% to 1%) per annum above the base lending
rate of a leading local bank.

The comparative figures in respect of the amounts due to/from subsidiary companies have been reclassified from
non current to current to conform with the current year’s presentation. These balances are classified as current as
there are no fixed repayment terms and the Company can, at its discretion, call for the repayment of these balances.

The subsidiary companies are listed in Note 39.

15. ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
Group

2000 1999
Quoted - at cost:

Shares in foreign corporation, less goodwill written off 1,530.2 895.9
Group’s share of post acquisition reserves 34.7 102.9

1,564.9 998.8 
Unquoted - at cost:

Shares in Malaysian companies 10.2 110.2
Group’s share of post acquisition reserves 333.3 318.4

343.5 428.6 

Amount due from associated companies 22.9 21.9
Less: Portion included in current assets (4.1) (3.1)

18.8 18.8 

1,927.2 1,446.2 
Represented by:

Share of net assets, other than goodwill of associated companies 1,908.4 1,427.4 

Market value of quoted shares 3,936.1 6,473.8 

During the financial year, the Group subscribed for a total of 609,781,993 Ordinary shares of US Dollar (“USD”) 0.10
each in Star Cruises Limited (“SCL”), an associated company of the Group, via the conversion of USD442,499,850
out of the USD480,000,000 Floating Rate Convertible Unsecured Loan Notes (“CULNs”) issued to the Group under
the Note Purchase Agreements, two on 28 September 2000 and one on 9 October 2000, between SCL and the
Group. The remaining CULNs of USD37,500,150 not converted into Ordinary shares of SCLwas repaid to the Group
during the year.

The amount due from associated companies represents outstanding amounts arising from inter company sales and
purchases, advances and payments made on behalf of associated companies. The amounts due are unsecured and
those amounts included under non current portion are not repayable within the next twelve months. The interest
bearing and interest free portions of the amount due are as follows:

Group
2000 1999

-  Interest free portion 7.6 7.0
-  Outstanding amount bearing interest at rates ranging from 8.0% 

to 8.8% per annum (1999: 8.0% to 10.05% per annum) 15.3 14.9 

22.9 21.9 

The associated companies are listed in Note 39.
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16. OTHER LONG TERM INVESTMENTS
Group

2000 1999

Quoted shares in foreign corporations, at cost 151.7 234.7 
Less : Amounts written down to-date (44.6) (74.7)

107.1 160.0 
Unquoted shares in Malaysian companies, at cost 3.6 3.2 

Other unquoted investment outside Malaysia, at cost 3.3 3.8 

114.0 167.0 

Market value of quoted shares 68.9 227.5 

No further write downs have been made during the financial year as the Directors deem that there is no further
permanent diminution in the value of the investments.

17. DEFERRED TAXATION
Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
Comprise the tax effects of:

Excess of capital allowances over depreciation (52.0) (44.5) (0.5) (0.4)
Timing differences arising from provisions 36.8 28.5 18.2 17.3 

(15.2) (16.0) 17.7 16.9 

Subject to agreement by the Inland Revenue Board, 
the Group has potential tax benefits, of which the tax effects 
not taken up in the financial statements are as follows:

Unutilised tax losses 24.3 23.1 - -
Unutilised capital allowances 65.4 63.4 - -

89.7 86.5 - -

The tax effects relating to the increase in the carrying values of certain revalued assets are not disclosed as there is
no intention to dispose of these assets in the foreseeable future.

18. PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT
Group

2000 1999
Land held for development:

At cost 2.4 1.3
At valuation - 1981 - 1.2
At valuation - 1983 1.4 1.5
At valuation - 1995 8.0 7.7
At valuation - 1996 22.4 31.0

34.2 42.7
Development expenditure 104.8 319.5
Attributable profits 11.4 186.9
Progress billings (33.1) (445.3)

117.3 103.8 

In accordance with the transitional provisions issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board on adoption of
Malaysian Accounting Standard No. 7, Accounting for Property Development, the valuation of these lands have not
been updated, and they continue to be stated at their existing carrying amounts.

During the year, the Group has classified the unsold but completed development properties from property
development to inventories so as to present a better understanding of the status of the Group’s property
development projects undertaken by indirect subsidiary companies. Accordingly, the  comparative figures have been
reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation. The effect of the reclassification in respect of the
preceding financial year is to reclassify RM2.5 million of freehold land held for development and RM123.5 million of
development expenditure from property development to inventories.
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19. INVENTORIES
Group

2000 1999
At cost:

Raw materials 41.6 37.1 
Stores and spares 47.1 52.3 
Food, beverages and other hotel supplies 5.9 5.4 
Produce stocks and finished goods 20.7 14.8 
Completed properties 105.9 126.0 

221.2 235.6 
At net realisable value:

Stores and spares 4.8 -
Completed properties 1.8 -

227.8 235.6 

As mentioned in Note 18, the Group has classified the unsold but completed development properties from property
development to inventories. The comparative figures have been reclassified accordingly.

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES
Group

2000 1999
Current:

Trade debtors 132.0 148.0 
Less : Allowance for doubtful debts (5.1) (2.7)

126.9 145.3 
Non current:

Trade receivables 10.1 3.7 

137.0 149.0 

21. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999

Other debtors 65.2 117.6 1.1 0.4 
Less : Allowance for doubtful debts (0.2) (10.7) (0.1) -

65.0 106.9 1.0 0.4 
Deposits 20.5 23.9 0.6 0.6 
Prepayments 29.1 18.5 - -

114.6 149.3 1.6 1.0 

Included in other debtors of the Group are housing loans extended to certain executive directors of the Group
amounting to RM1.3 million (1999 : RM1.5 million).

22. SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS
Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
Quoted - at cost:

Shares in Malaysian companies 64.7 43.9 - 2.3 
Shares in foreign corporations 355.3 720.1 - -

420.0 764.0 - 2.3
Less : Allowance for diminution in value of investments (132.6) (2.4) - -

287.4 761.6 - 2.3 
Unquoted - at cost:

Money market instruments 259.4 220.3 125.6 122.9 

546.8 981.9 125.6 125.2 
Market value of quoted shares:
-  Malaysian companies 43.1 65.1 - 2.3
-  Foreign corporations 244.3 910.4 - -

287.4 975.5 - 2.3 

Investment in money market instruments comprise of negotiable certificates of deposit.
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23. BANK BALANCES AND DEPOSITS
Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999 

Deposits with licensed banks 692.1 1,199.1 64.5 562.3
Deposits with finance companies 12.4 95.4 5.9 53.0
Cash and bank balances 142.2 116.1 2.4 1.8

846.7 1,410.6 72.8 617.1 

Included in deposits with licensed banks for the Group is an amount of RM8.9 million (1999: RM2.1 million) deposited
by an indirect subsidiary company into various Housing Development Accounts in accordance with Section 7(A) of
the Housing Developers (Control and Licensing) Act 1966.

Deposits of an indirect subsidiary company amounting to RM4.4 million (1999: RM Nil) have been pledged as
security for its bank overdraft facilities.

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES
Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999

Other creditors 201.2 91.8 2.7 2.0
Accrued expenses 199.8 209.7 8.5 8.0
Interest payable 5.9 2.9 - -
Deposits and others 23.6 33.5 - -

430.5 337.9 11.2 10.0 

Included in other creditors of the Group are progress billings for the construction of a new hotel undertaken by an
indirect subsidiary company amounting to RM85.8 million (1999: RM24.2 million ).

25. SHORT TERM BORROWINGS
Group

2000 1999
Unsecured:

Bank overdrafts 0.2 0.6
Bank borrowing - US Dollar Euro Medium Term Notes (“Notes”) 319.2 -

- US Dollar loan 63.7 -

Secured:
Bank overdrafts 2.5 -
Short term loan - 0.2

385.6 0.8 

The unsecured and secured bank overdrafts bear interest at rates ranging from 7% to 9% (1999: approximately 9%)
per annum, whereas the secured short term loan which was fully settled in the current financial year bore interest at
rates ranging from 0.66% to 1% per month in 1999. The bank overdrafts are secured over certain bank deposits as
explained in Note 23.

The weighted average effective interest rate on the unsecured bank borrowing obtained in the current financial year
is approximately 7.9% per annum. Details of the Notes facility are available in Note 32. 

26. SHARE CAPITAL
2000 1999

Authorised:
1,600 million ordinary shares of 50 sen each 800.0 800.0  

Issued and fully paid:
704.4 million (1999: 704.4 million) ordinary shares of 50 sen each 352.2 352.2  
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2000, options to subscribe for 3,412,000 (1999: 3,447,000) unissued ordinary shares of 50 sen
each under The Genting Employees’ Share Option Scheme were outstanding.

The outstanding options granted in previous years are exercisable as follows:

Subscription Price Number of shares
Exercisable Period per share in thousands

From To RM 2000 1999

15 December 1999 15 December 2004 19.80 3,412 3,447  

27. RESERVES
Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999
Non-Distributable Reserves:

Share Premium 97.8 97.8 97.8 97.8 
Revaluation Reserves 384.5 404.2 - -
Exchange Differences 54.1 118.4 - -

Distributable Reserves:
Unappropriated Profit 4,495.5 4,816.3 2,473.1 2,294.4 

5,031.9 5,436.7 2,570.9 2,392.2 

Based on the prevailing tax rate applicable to dividends, the estimated tax credit position is sufficient to frank
approximately RM1,813.2 million (1999: RM1,639.1 million) of the Company’s unappropriated profit if distributed by
way of dividends without additional tax liabilities being incurred.

In addition, the Company has tax exempt income as at 31 December 2000, available to frank as tax exempt
dividends arising from the Promotions of Investment Act, 1986 and the Income Tax (Amendment) Act, 1999, relating
to tax on income earned in 1999 being waived, amounting to approximately RM471.6 million (1999: RM455.7
million). The estimated tax credit and tax exempt income are subject to agreement by the Inland Revenue Board.
Taking into consideration the tax credit and tax exempt income as at 31 December 2000, a tax liability of
approximately RM52.8 million (1999: RM55.9 million) would be incurred should all the unappropriated profit of the
Company be distributed as dividends.

28. LONG TERM LOANS
Group

2000 1999
Unsecured:

Bank borrowing -  Singapore Dollar Euro Medium Term Notes 220.4 -
-  US Dollar Euro Medium Term Notes 98.8 -

Advances          -  interest bearing 5.4 5.4
-  interest free - 14.2

Secured:
Redeemable fixed rate bonds 82.0 82.0 

406.6 101.6 

The redeemable fixed rate secured bonds are issued by an indirect subsidiary company under a bond facility fully
underwritten by a bank amounting to RM82.0 million. The bonds are secured by way of first fixed and floating
charges on the present and future assets, revenues, rights and claims and undertakings of the subsidiary company.
The tenor of the bonds is for five years and are redeemable at par on maturity date on 6 August 2002. Interest on
these bonds is payable semi-annually and the coupon rate is fixed at 8.6% per annum.

The Singapore Dollar and US Dollar Euro Medium Term Notes (“Notes”) obtained by an indirect subsidiary company
during the year bore a weighted average effective interest of approximately 7.9% per annum. The loan is due to
mature in stages between one to five years. The details of the Notes facility are available in Note 32.

Other unsecured long term advances represent advances from the minority shareholders in subsidiary companies.
The interest rate on the interest bearing advances ranged from 7.5% to 7.8% (1999: 7.8% to 9.05%) per annum.
These advances are not expected to be repaid within the next twelve months.
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29. OTHER LIABILITIES
Group

2000 1999

Advance membership fees 13.0 5.1
Unearned premiums 0.3 -

13.3 5.1 

The advance membership fees relate to fees received on sale of time-share units by an indirect subsidiary company
offering a time-share ownership scheme. These fees are recognised as income over the next twenty four years from
commencement of membership.

Unearned premiums relate to premiums for policies with unexpired risks.

30. PROVISION FOR RETIREMENT GRATUITIES
Group Company

2000 1999 2000 1999

Balance as at 1 January 167.5 156.8 67.4 61.1

Charge for the year 14.4 15.9 2.3 6.7
Write back of provision (1.8) (4.4) - (0.4)
Payments during the year (0.3) (0.8) - -

Balance as at 31 December 179.8 167.5 69.7 67.4 

31. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per ordinary share is calculated based on the Group net loss for the financial year of RM245.5 million (1999:
Group net profit for the financial year of RM1,101.1 million) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue of 704.4 million shares (1999: 704.4 million shares).

As at 31 December 2000, the Company has 3,412,000 (1999: 3,447,000) unissued ordinary shares outstanding
under the Genting Employees’Share Option Scheme (“GESOS”). In accordance with the provisions laid down by the
Malaysian Accounting Standards Board No. 13 on Earnings Per Share, share options are dilutive when they are
issued for no consideration or where a portion of the outstanding share options are deemed dilutive in situations
where the exercise price of the options is below its fair value.

Since the exercise price of the GESOS is above the fair value of the Company’s shares for the current financial year,
the option is non dilutive. The comparative figure for the diluted earnings per share has been restated in line with the
provisions as laid out by MASB 13.

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at the end of the current financial year, the Group has entered into the following financial instruments:

a) Foreign Currency Contracts
Contract amount

Currency Maturity dates RM Mil

Swiss Francs 12/01/2001 – 15/02/2001 7.7
French Francs 12/01/2001 – 15/02/2001 13.3
Deutsche Marks 12/01/2001 0.9

b) Euro Medium Term Notes (“Notes”)
Resorts World (Labuan) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Resorts World Bhd (“RWB”), which in turn is a
55.2% owned subsidiary of the Company, issued the following notes which form part of the borrowings as
disclosed in Note 25 and Note 28:

Amount
Currency Issue date Maturity date Interest type Mil

Singapore Dollar 26/05/2000 26/05/2003 Fixed rate 100.0
US Dollar 16/06/2000 16/06/2003 Floating rate based on SIBOR 26.0
US Dollar 16/06/2000 16/06/2001 Floating rate based on SIBOR 84.0

The above Notes are guaranteed by RWB and are redeemable in full on the respective maturity dates.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

c) Singapore Dollar (“SGD”)/US Dollar (“USD”) Cross Currency Swap (“CCS”)
Further to the issuance of the SGD Notes on the 26 May 2000 for SGD100 million, as disclosed in (b) above,
the Group entered into two CCS agreements, the first on the issue date of the Notes and the second on 3
August 2000. The effect of the two CCS agreements is to convert the SGD Notes into a fixed rate USD liability.

The swaps terminate on the maturity of the loan, which is 26 May 2003.

d) USD Interest Rate Swap (“IRS”)
Subsequent to the issuance of the Notes for USD26 million, as disclosed in (b) above, the Group entered into
an IRS agreement on 8 August 2000. The effect of this transaction is to effectively fix the interest rate payable
on that tranche of the loan.

These instruments are executed with a creditworthy financial institution and the Directors are of the view that
the possibility of non performance by the financial institution is remote on the basis of its financial strength.

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Group

2000 1999
Secured:

Guarantees given by a subsidiary company to third parties 
in relation to certain property development activity in Sydney, Australia. 3.8 4.5 

Unsecured:

Counter indemnity given by a subsidiary company to a local 
licensed bank for a bank guarantee issued on behalf of its wholly owned 
subsidiary company. 5.0 5.0 

8.8 9.5 

34. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Group

2000 1999
Authorised capital expenditure not provided for in the 

financial statements:
– contracted 610.8 478.1
– not contracted 162.5 398.2

773.3 876.3  
Analysed as follows:

– property, plant and equipment 771.9 876.3
– others 1.4 –

773.3 876.3 

35. NON-CASH TRANSACTION

The principal non-cash transaction during the financial year is the acquisition of additional 609,781,993 ordinary
shares of USD0.10 each in Star Cruises Limited, an associated company of the Group, by the conversion of Floating
rate Convertible Unsecured Loan Notes purchased during the year amounting to RM1,681.5 million, the details of
which are explained in Note 15.
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36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

In the normal course of business, the Company and the Group undertakes on agreed terms and prices, transactions
with its related companies and other related parties.

The significant related party transactions, other than those disclosed in Note 8 are as follows :

RM Mil
A) Rendering of services:

Associated companies

a ) Star Cruises Limited - an associated company of Resorts World Bhd (“RWB”), a 55.2%
owned subsidiary of the Company.
-  air tickets and transportation services 4.0
-  show artistes administration services 0.3

b) Management fees receivable from Serian Palm Oil Mill Sdn Bhd, an a s s o c i a t e d
company of Asiatic Development Berhad (“ADB”), a 54.9% owned subsidiary of the 
Company. 0.9

Director related

a) Maxis Collections Sdn Bhd
-  payments for telephone expenses 0.3
-  receipts in respect of rental of premises 0.4

TT dotCom Sdn Bhd (formerly TIME Telecommunications Sdn Bhd) 0.3

Tun Mohamed Hanif bin Omar, the Deputy Chairman of the Company and RWB is also
the Chairman of Maxis Communications Bhd, the holding company of Maxis Collections
Sdn Bhd and the Director of Renong Berhad, which is the ultimate holding company of
TT dotCom Sdn Bhd (formerly TIME Telecommunications Sdn Bhd).

b) Rental of premises by RWB to Oriregal Creations Sdn Bhd 0.8
The spouse of Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong is a director and substantial shareholder of Oriregal
Creations Sdn Bhd. Rental of space to third parties is negotiated, based on, amongst
other factors, space, size, location and nature of businesses operated by the tenants.
Businesses operated by Oriregal provide basic shopping facilities to visitors and basic
canteen facilities primarily catered to staff working at Genting Highlands Resort. These
facilities have been long established and the rentals have been negotiated on this basis, 
taking into account the other aforementioned factors. 

The rental at the Genting Hotel and the Highlands Hotel are 7% lower than the
comparable range of commercial rates charged to other tenants as a larger space is
occupied. The rental of premises at the Resort Hotel is 31% lower as they are located at
a low traffic area. The rental of premises near the Resort Hotel car park is 40% higher
than similar premises due to the superior location. The rental of premises near the staff
residential area is 2% higher than commercial rates of comparable premises.

c) Progress payments made by Asiatic Land Development Sdn Bhd, a wholly owned
subsidiary company of ADB, to the constructor, Kien Huat Development Sdn Bhd, a
company in which Datuk Lim Chee Wah, a member of the family of Tan Sri Lim Goh
Tong, is a director and has deemed substantial financial interest, for the development of
properties in Kulai, Johor. The progress payments include fees and reimbursables 
totalling RM1,506,000. 30.2

B) Sale of goods:

Associated company

a ) Sale of information technology products by E-Genting Holdings Sdn Bhd, a subsidiary 
of the Company, to Star Cruises Limited, an associated company of RWB. 2.5
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36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (Cont’d)

C) Loan to Director

Gentinggi Sdn Bhd, a wholly owned subsidiary of RWB, granted an unsecured interest free housing loan to
Justin Tan, the Executive Director and Executive Vice-President - Leisure & Hospitality of RWB. The loan has
a repayment term of 97 months. The outstanding balance at the end of the financial year was RM708,345.

D) Sale and acquisition of lands

i) Kijal Resort Sdn Bhd, an indirect subsidiary of RWB, sold a parcel of land to Port Klang Cruise Centre Sdn
Bhd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Star Cruises Limited, for RM4,092,224 in 1999. Subsequently this
agreement was revoked and rescinded by a deed of revocation dated 1 August 2000.

ii) Genting Highlands Bhd (“GHB”), a wholly owned subsidiary of RWB, disposed to Genting Development
Sdn Bhd, a company in which Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong is a director and substantial shareholder, a parcel of
freehold vacant land measuring approximately 3.04 hectares, situated in Genting Highlands, Mukim and
District of Bentong, Pahang Darul Makmur for a total cash consideration of RM1,513,000. This disposal
was approved by the Board of Directors of GHB and RWB on 12 April 2000 and by the shareholders at an
Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) held on 29 June 2000. The balance outstanding at the end of the
financial year in respect of this transaction amounted to RM1,361,700.

iii) Genting Centre of Excellence Sdn Bhd (“GCE”), a 70% owned subsidiary of RWB acquired a parcel of
leasehold vacant land measuring approximately 7.513 acres in Genting Highlands, Mukim and District of
Bentong, Pahang Darul Makmur from Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong for a cash consideration of RM1,277,000. This
acquisition was approved by the Board of Directors of GCE and RWB on 12 April 2000 and by the
shareholders at an EGM held on 29 June 2000. The balance outstanding at the end of the financial year
in respect of this transaction amounted to RM1,149,300.

E) Disposal of investment in NCLHolding ASA(“NCL”) shares by Resorts World Limited (“RWL”), a wholly
owned subsidiary of RWB to Arrasas Limited (“Arrasas”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Star Cruises
Limited (“SCL”) which in turn is an associated company of RWB and subsequent investment by RWL
in SCL. 

On 24 November 2000, RWL, a wholly owned subsidiary of RWB, entered into a share sale agreement with
Arrasas, a wholly owned subsidiary of SCL, which in turn is an associated company of RWB, to dispose a total
of 10,300,000 Ordinary Shares of NOK2.30 each (“Sale Shares”) representing approximately 3.9% equity
interest in NCLfor a cash consideration of NOK154.4 million (approximately RM61.5 million) or NOK15 per NCL
share subject to the condition that in the event Arrasas pays more than NOK15 per share to acquire further
shares of NCLin subsequent transactions, Arrasas shall pay to RWLthe difference between the purchase price
that would have been paid to RWL calculated using such higher price per share and NOK154.4 million.The
disposal price was arrived at on a willing buyer willing seller basis and after taking into consideration the closing
price of NOK15 per NCL share on 23 November 2000. The sales consideration of NOK154.4 million has been
received in full during the financial year. The proceeds from the disposal was utilised to part finance the
subsequent investment in SCL.

The disposal of shares in NCL to SCL has been approved by the Board of Directors of the Company and RWL
on 24 November 2000.

On 29 November 2000, pursuant to the authority given by shareholders of RWB at an EGM held on 21 August
2000, RWL subscribed for a total of 609,781,993 Ordinary Shares of USD0.10 each in SCL, via the conversion
of USD442,499,850 out of the USD480 million Floating Rate Convertible Unsecured Loan Notes (“CULNs”)
issued to RWL under the Note Purchase Agreements, on 28 September 2000, between SCL and RWL. The
remaining CULNs of USD37,500,150 not converted into Ordinary Shares of SCL was repaid to RWL during the
year.

The conversion price of the CULNs to Ordinary Shares of SCL was based on the rate of HKD5.66 or
USD0.7257 (approximately RM2.76) per share using the exchange rate of USD1.00: HKD7.7997. The
conversion price was arrived at by the Joint Placing Agents for SCL following placements made to other
institutional and private investors at the same subscription price in conjunction with the listing of and quotation
of all the shares of SCL on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange Limited.

Upon issuance of 609,781,993 new ordinary shares of USD0.10 each, RWL owns 1,486,886,993 shares
representing 35.9% of the enlarged issued and paid-up share capital of SCL.
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36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (Cont’d)

The nature and extent of the interest of the Directors concerned are as set out below:

Tan Sri Lim Goh To n g – Shareholder of SCL and a preference unit holder of the Golden Hope Unit Trust 
(“GHUT”), which is a substantial shareholder of SCL and of which Golden Hope 
Limited (“GHL”) is acting as its trustee, and has a deemed interest in the units of 
the GHUT by virtue of being a beneficiary of a discretionary trust which holds the 
units in the GHUT.

Dato’ Lim Kok Thay – A member of the family of Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong.

– Director of RWL and Arrasas.

– Chairman, President and Chief Executive, shareholder and call option holder of 
shares in SCL; a director of GHL; and a preference unit holder of the GHUT and 
has a deemed interest in the units of the GHUT by virtue of being a beneficiary of 
a discretionary trust which holds the units in the GHUT.

Justin Tan Wah Joo – Shareholder and call option holder of shares in SCL.

F) Disposal of investment in NCLHolding ASA(“NCL”) shares by Palomino Limited (“PL”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of Genting International PLC (“GIPLC”), which in turn is a 57.6% owned subsidiary of the
Company, to Arrasas Limited (“Arrasas”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Star Cruises Limited (“SCL”).

Pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated 24 November 2000, PL has agreed to dispose of 16,000,000
Ordinary Shares of NOK2.30 each representing approximately 6.0% in NCL to Arrasas, for a price of NOK15
per share amounting to a total sale consideration of NOK240 million (approximately RM95.5 million) subject to
the condition that in the event Arrasas pays more than NOK15 per share to acquire further shares of NCL in
subsequent transactions, Arrasas shall pay to PL the difference between the purchase price that would have
been paid to PLcalculated using such higher price per share and NOK240 million.

The disposal price was arrived at on a willing buyer willing seller basis and after taking into consideration the
closing price of NOK15 per NCL share on 23 November 2000. The sales consideration of NOK240 million has
been received in full during the financial year.

The disposal of shares in NCL to SCL has been approved by the Board of Directors of the Company, GIPLC
and PL on 24 November 2000.

The nature and extent of the interest of the Directors concerned are as set out below:

Tan Sri Lim Goh To n g – Shareholder of SCL and a preference unit holder of the Golden Hope Unit Trust 
(“GHUT”), which is a substantial shareholder of SCL and of which Golden Hope 
Limited (“GHL”) is acting as its trustee, and has a deemed interest in the units of 
the GHUT by virtue of being a beneficiary of a discretionary trust which holds the 
units in the GHUT.

Dato’ Lim Kok Thay – A member of the family of Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong.

– Director of PL and Arrasas.

– Chairman, President and Chief Executive, shareholder and call option holder of 
shares in SCL; a director of GHL; and a preference unit holder of the GHUT and 
has a deemed interest in the units of the GHUT by virtue of being a beneficiary of 
a discretionary trust which holds the units in the GHUT.

Tan Sri Mohd Amin – Call option holder of shares in SCL.
bin Osman

G) Disposal of investment in NCL Holding ASA (“NCL”) shares by Genting Overseas Holdings Limited
(“GOHL”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, to Arrasas Limited (“Arrasas”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of Star Cruises Limited (“SCL”).

Pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated 24 November 2000, GOHLhas agreed to dispose of 2,810,200
Ordinary Shares of NOK2.30 each representing approximately 1.1% in NCL to Arrasas, for a price of NOK15
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36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (Cont’d)

per share amounting to a total sale consideration of NOK42,153,000 (approximately RM16.8 million) subject to
the condition that in the event Arrasas pays more than NOK15 per share to acquire further shares of NCL in
subsequent transactions, Arrasas shall pay to GOHLthe difference between the purchase price that would have
been paid to GOHLcalculated using such higher price per share and NOK42,153,000.

The disposal price was arrived at on a willing buyer willing seller basis and after taking into consideration the
closing price of NOK15 per NCLshare on 23 November 2000. The sales consideration of NOK42,153,000 has
been received in full during the financial year.

The disposal has been approved by the Board of Directors of the Company and GOHLon 24 November 2000.

The nature and extent of the interest of the directors concerned are as set out below:

Tan Sri Lim Goh To n g – Shareholder of SCL and a preference unit holder of the Golden Hope Unit Trust 
(“GHUT”), which is a substantial shareholder of SCL and of which Golden Hope 
Limited (“GHL”) is acting as its trustee, and has a deemed interest in the units of 
the GHUT by virtue of being a beneficiary of a discretionary trust which holds the 
units in the GHUT.

Dato’ Lim Kok Thay – A member of the family of Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong.

– Director of GOHL and Arrasas.

– Chairman, President and Chief Executive, shareholder and call option holder of 
shares in SCL; a director of GHL; and a preference unit holder of the GHUT and 
has a deemed interest in the units of the GHUT by virtue of being a beneficiary of 
a discretionary trust which holds the units in the GHUT.

Tan Sri Mohd Amin – Call option holder of shares in SCL.
bin Osman                      

37. COMPARATIVES

The presentation of the financial statements for the current financial year has been extended to comply with the
Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) standards. As mentioned in the respective Notes to the financial
statements, certain comparative figures have been reclassified and/or expanded to ensure comparability with the
current year’s presentation.

Comparative information on significant related party disclosures are not presented as the Group applies the
exemption provided by MASB 8, Related Party Disclosures.

38. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

a) On 8 March 2001, Asiatic Development Berhad (“ADB”), a 54.9% owned subsidiary of the Company, announced
the proposed acquisition (“The Proposed Acquisition”) of the entire issued and paid up capital of Kinavest Sdn
Bhd (“Kinavest”) for a cash consideration of RM1.33 million less all outstanding liabilities of Kinavest as at the
date of completion of the acquisition. Kinavest has been alienated a piece of agricultural land measuring
approximately 192.4 hectares situated in Tenegang, District of Kinabatangan, Sabah.

The proposed acquisition does not have any material impact on the net tangible assets of the Group for the
financial year ended 31 December 2000 and is not expected to have any material effect on the earnings of the
Group for the financial year ending 31 December 2001.

b) On 20 March 2001, RWB (Labuan) Limited , a wholly owned subsidiary of Resorts World Bhd (“RWB”), which
in turn is a 55.2% owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a loan agreement with financial institutions
to secure an aggregate loan amounting to USD200 million. The loan is guaranteed by RWB and is subject to a
floating interest rate based on LIBOR.

The loan is to enable RWB to refinance USD200 million of its additional equity investment in Resorts World
Limited (“RWL”), a wholly owned subsidiary of RWB, during the financial year, which was used by RWL to
purchase an additional equity stake in Star Cruises Limited on 29 November 2000 as explained in Note 15.



G E N T I N G  B E R H A D        A nn u a l  R e p o r t  20 0 046

39. SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Effective
Percentage of Country of 

Ownership Incorporation Principal Activities
2000 1999

Direct Subsidiary Companies
Asiatic Development Berhad 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Plantations 
E-Genting Holdings Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Supplier of information

technology products 
and services and 
investment holding

GB Credit & Leasing Sdn Bhd 69.5 69.5 Malaysia Leasing and
moneylending

+ Genting Equities (Hong Kong) Limited 100.0 100.0 Hong Kong Investments
Genting Highlands Tours & Promotion Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Letting of land

& premises
Genting Hotel & Resorts Management Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Management services

+ Genting International Paper Holdings Limited 100.0 100.0 Isle of Man Investment holding
Genting (Labuan) Limited 100.0 100.0 Labuan, Off-shore captive

Malaysia insurance
Genting Management and Consultancy 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Management services

Services Sdn Bhd
+ Genting Overseas Holdings Limited 100.0 100.0 Isle of Man Investment holding

Maxitage Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Investments
Oakwood Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Property investment 

and management
Resorts World Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Resort, hotel and 

gaming operations
+ Resorts World Bhd (Hong Kong) Limited 100.0 100.0 Hong Kong Dormant
+ Resorts World (Singapore) Pte Ltd 100.0 100.0 Singapore Dormant

Genting Assets Management Services Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Pre-operating
Genting Aviation Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Pre-operating

+ Genting Bhd (Hong Kong) Limited 100.0 100.0 Hong Kong Pre-operating
Genting Industries Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Pre-operating
Genting Permata Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Pre-operating
Genting Plantations Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Pre-operating
Genting Realty Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Pre-operating
Genting Resorts World Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Pre-operating
Genting Sanyen Newsprint Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Pre-operating

+ Genting (Singapore) Pte Ltd 100.0 100.0 Singapore Pre-operating
+ Oxalis Limited 100.0 100.0 Isle of Man Pre-operating
+ Resorts World Limited 100.0 100.0 Hong Kong Pre-operating

Sri Highlands Express Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Pre-operating

Indirect Subsidiary Companies
ADB (Sarawak) Palm Oil Mill 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Provision of palm oil mill 

Management Sdn Bhd management services
Amalgamated Rubber (Penang) Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Investments
AR Property Development Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Plantations
Asiatic Golf Course (Sg Petani) Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Golf course operation
Asiatic Indahpura Development Sdn Bhd 3 8 . 4 3 8 . 2 M a l a y s i a Property development
Asiatic Land Development Sdn Bhd 5 4 . 9 5 4 . 7 M a l a y s i a Property development

+ Asiatic Overseas Limited 54.9 54.7 Isle of Man Investments
Awan Ria (M) Sdn Bhd 97.7 97.7 Malaysia Investment holding
Awana Hotels & Resorts Management Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Management services
Awana Vacation Resorts Development Berhad 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Proprietary timeshare

ownership scheme
Ayer Item Oil Mill Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Fresh fruit bunches

processing
+ Azzon Limited 54.9 54.7 Isle of Man Investments

Bandar Pelabuhan Sdn Bhd 33.1 33.1 Malaysia Investment holding
+ Cairns Limited 95.0 95.0 Isle of Man Oil & gas exploration
+ Coveyork Pty Ltd 95.0 95.0 Australia Oil & gas exploration

Delquest Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Investments
E-Genting Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Provision of information 

technology services
and consultancy

First World Hotels & Resorts Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Hotel business
Genasa Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Sale and letting

of apartment
Genting Administrative Services Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Investment holding

+ Genting Australia Investments Holding Pty Ltd 57.6 57.6 Australia Property development
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39. SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES (Cont’d)

Effective
Percentage of Country of 

Ownership Incorporation Principal Activities
2000 1999

+ Genting Australia Pty Ltd 57.6 57.6 Australia Management services
Genting Card Services Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Provider of loyalty 

program services
Genting Centre of Excellence Sdn Bhd 38.6 38.6 Malaysia Training services
Genting Entertainment Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Show agent
Genting Golf Course Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Condotel & hotel 

business, golf resort
and property 
development

Genting Highlands Berhad 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Land and property
development

Genting Information Knowledge 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Research in software
Enterprise Sdn Bhd development and

consultancy
+ Genting International Industries 97.7 97.7 Singapore Investment holding

(Singapore) Pte Ltd
+ Genting International Management Limited 57.6 57.6 Isle of Man Investment holding
+ Genting International PLC 57.6 57.6 Isle of Man Investment holding
+ Genting International Paper Limited 100.0 100.0 Isle of Man Investment holding
+ Genting International Paper Manufacturers Limited 97.7 97.7 Isle of Man Investment holding
+ Genting International Paper (Netherlands) B.V. 100.0 100.0 Netherlands Management &

consultancy services
+ Genting International Properties Limited 57.6 57.6 Isle of Man Investment holding
+ Genting International (Singapore) Pte Ltd 57.6 57.6 Singapore Tour promotion

Genting Leisure Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Investment holding
+ Genting Management (Western Australia) Pty Ltd 57.6 57.6 Australia Under member’s

voluntary liquidation
+ Genting Oil & Gas (China) Limited 95.0 95.0 Isle of Man Oil & gas exploration
+ Genting Oil & Gas Limited 95.0 95.0 Isle of Man Investment holding
+ Genting Power Holdings Limited 100.0 100.0 Isle of Man Investment holding
+ Genting Power (M) Limited 100.0 100.0 Isle of Man Investment holding

Genting Property Management Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Property management
+ Genting (South Australia) Pty Ltd 57.6 57.6 Australia Under member’s

voluntary liquidation
Genting Sanyen Industrial Paper Sdn Bhd 97.7 97.7 Malaysia Manufacturing and

trading of paper
products

Genting Sanyen (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd 97.7 97.7 Malaysia Investment holding
Genting Sanyen Paperboard Sdn Bhd 97.7 97.7 Malaysia Manufacturing and 

trading of paper 
products

Genting Sanyen Utilities & Services Sdn Bhd 97.7 97.7 Malaysia Provision and sale
of utilities

Genting Skyway Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Provision of cable car 
services

Genting Utilities & Services Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Provision of 
utilities services

+ Genting (Western Australia) Pty Ltd 57.6 57.6 Australia Under member’s
voluntary liquidation

Genting World Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Leisure and
entertainment 
business

Gentinggi Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Investment holding
Glugor Development Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Investments
GS Packaging Industries (M) Sdn Bhd 97.7 97.7 Malaysia Provision of human

resource services
Ideal Meridian Sdn Bhd 97.7 97.7 Malaysia Manufacturing and

sale of paper core
Infomart Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Management &

consultancy services
+ Jamberoo Limited 95.0 95.0 Isle of Man Oil & gas exploration

Kijal Resort Sdn Bhd 55.2 38.6 Malaysia Property development
and property
management

+ Lafleur Limited 55.2 55.2 Isle of Man Investment holding
Landworthy Sdn Bhd 46.1 45.9 Malaysia Plantations
Mastika Lagenda Sdn Bhd 97.7 97.7 Malaysia Investment holding

+ Myanmar Genting Sanyen Limited 100.0 100.0 Myanmar Trading
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39. SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES (Cont’d)

Effective
Percentage of Country of 

Ownership Incorporation Principal Activities

2000 1999

Mediglove Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Trading in rubberwood
+ Palomino Limited 57.6 57.6 Isle of Man Investments

Papago Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Resorts & hotel
business

Persis Hijau Sdn Bhd 97.7 97.7 Malaysia Provision of facilities 
for waste paper
baling process

Resorts World (Labuan) Limited 55.2 - Labuan, General trading
Malaysia

+ Resorts World Limited 55.2 55.2 Isle of Man Investment holding
Resorts World Tours Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Provision of tour 

and travel related
services

+ Roundhay Limited 95.0 95.0 Isle of Man Oil & gas exploration
Sabah Development Company Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Plantations
Seraya Mayang Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.1 Malaysia Investment holding
Setiabahagia Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Property investment
Setiacahaya Sdn Bhd 77.4 77.3 Malaysia Property investment
Setiamas Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Plantations and

property development
Setiaseri Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Property investment
Sierra Springs Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Investment holding
Sing Mah Plantation Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Plantations
Star Cruise Properties Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Investment holding

(subsequently known as Resorts World 
Properties Sdn Bhd)

Tanjung Bahagia Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Plantations
Technimode Enterprises Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Property investment
Vestplus Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Property investment
Widuri Pelangi Sdn Bhd 55.2 38.6 Malaysia Golf resort and

hotel business
+ Woodbery Limited 57.6 57.6 Hong Kong Under member’s

voluntary liquidation
Asiaticom Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Dormant
Asiatic Properties Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Dormant

+ Genting Overseas Investments Limited 100.0 100.0 Isle of Man Dormant
+ Genting Sanyen Paper Pte Ltd 97.7 97.7 Singapore Dormant

Plantation Latex (Malaya) Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Dormant
Resorts World Food Services Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Dormant
RWB (Labuan) Limited 55.2 - Labuan, Dormant

Malaysia
+ R.W. Investments Limited 55.2 55.2 Isle of Man Dormant

Waxwood Sdn Bhd 33.1 33.1 Malaysia Dormant
+ Song Yen Paper Pte Ltd 97.7 97.7 Singapore Pending dissolution
+ ADB International Limited 54.9 54.7 Hong Kong Pre-operating

ALD Construction Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Pre-operating
Asiatic Commodities Trading Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Pre-operating
Asiatic Awanpura Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Pre-operating
Asiatic Vegetable Oils Refinery Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Pre-operating
Awanapura Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Pre-operating
Awana Hotels Management Services Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Pre-operating
Awana Hotels & Resorts Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Pre-operating

+ Awana International Limited 100.0 100.0 Isle of Man Pre-operating
Awana Ownership Resorts Berhad 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Pre-operating
Awana Vacation Resorts Berhad 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Pre-operating
Awana Vacation Resorts Management Sdn Bhd 100.0 100.0 Malaysia Pre-operating
Dasar Pinggir (M) Sdn Bhd 97.7 97.7 Malaysia Pre-operating

+ Dongguan New Asiatic Oils and Fats Co Ltd - 30.0 The People’s Pre-operating
Republic of China

Dutabay Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
First World Entertainment Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
First World Equities Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
First World Food Services Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
First World Leisure Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
First World Management Services Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
First World Theme Park Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
Genas Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
Genawan Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
Genmas Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
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Gensa Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
Gentasa Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
Gentas Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating

+ Genting International Information - 57.6 Singapore Dissolved
Services Pte Ltd

+ Genting International Management 100.0 100.0 Singapore Pre-operating
Services Pte Ltd

+ Genting International Manufacturing 57.6 57.6 Hong Kong Under member’s
& Industries Limited voluntary liquidation

+ Genting International Resort Limited 57.6 57.6 Hong Kong Under member’s
voluntary liquidation

Genting Newsprint Sdn Bhd 57.6 57.6 Malaysia Pre-operating
+ Genting (NSW) Pty Ltd 57.6 57.6 Australia Pre-operating
+ Genting Power (Bangladesh) Limited 100.0 100.0 Isle of Man Pre-operating
+ Genting Power (India) Limited 100.0 100.0 Mauritius Pre-operating

Genting Sanyen Incineration Sdn Bhd 97.7 97.7 Malaysia Pre-operating
Genting Sanyen Sales & Marketing 97.7 97.7 Malaysia Pre-operating

Services Sdn Bhd
+ Genting Sanyen Utilities Limited 100.0 100.0 Isle of Man Pre-operating

Genting Studio Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
Genting Theme Park Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating

(formerly known as Profil Masa (M) Sdn Bhd)   
Gentinggi Quarry Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
Goodheart Development Sdn Bhd 54.9 54.7 Malaysia Pre-operating
Hitechwood Sdn Bhd 33.1 33.1 Malaysia Pre-operating
Jomara Sdn Bhd 33.1 33.1 Malaysia Pre-operating
Laserwood Sdn Bhd 33.1 33.1 Malaysia Pre-operating
Leisure & Cafe Concept Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
Merriwa Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
Neutrino Space Sdn Bhd 33.1 33.1 Malaysia Pre-operating
Nippontech Resources Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
Possible Affluent Sdn Bhd 33.1 33.1 Malaysia Pre-operating
Puncak Singa (M) Sdn Bhd 97.7 97.7 Malaysia Pre-operating
Rantau Cempaka (M) Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
Rapallo Sdn Bhd 33.1 33.1 Malaysia Pre-operating

+ Resorts Overseas Investments Limited 55.2 55.2 Isle of Man Pre-operating
Resorts Tavern Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
Sahabat Alam Sdn Bhd 97.7 97.7 Malaysia Pre-operating

+ Sayang (Thailand) Limited 91.0 91.0 Thailand Pre-operating
+ Sorona Limited 100.0 100.0 Isle of Man Pre-operating

Space Fair Sdn Bhd 33.1 33.1 Malaysia Pre-operating
Sweet Bonus Sdn Bhd 33.1 33.1 Malaysia Pre-operating
Tullamarine Sdn Bhd 33.1 33.1 Malaysia Pre-operating
Twinkle Glow Sdn Bhd 33.1 33.1 Malaysia Pre-operating
Twinmatics Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating
Twinsurf Sdn Bhd 55.2 55.2 Malaysia Pre-operating

+ Vestplus (Hong Kong) Limited 55.2 55.2 Hong Kong Pre-operating
+ Vestplus (Thailand) Limited 50.2 50.2 Thailand Pre-operating

Vintage Action Sdn Bhd 33.1 33.1 Malaysia Pre-operating
Yarrawin Sdn Bhd 33.1 33.1 Malaysia Pre-operating

Associated Companies
* Asiatic Ceramics Sdn Bhd 26.9 26.8 Malaysia Bricks manufacturing

Genting Sanyen Power Sdn Bhd 39.1 39.1 Malaysia Generation & supply 
of electric power

Serian Palm Oil Mill Sdn Bhd 22.0 21.8 Malaysia Fresh fruit bunches
processing

* Sri Gading Land Sdn Bhd 26.9 26.8 Malaysia Property development
+ Star Cruises Limited 19.3 14.8 Isle of Man Cruise and cruise

(formerly known as Star Cruises PLC & redomiciled related operations
in the Isle of Man) to Bermuda on

9 October 2000

* The financial statements of these companies are audited by firms other than the auditors of the Company.

+ The financial statements of these companies are audited by overseas firms associated with PricewaterhouseCoopers, Malaysia.
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We, TUN MOHAMMED HANIF BIN OMAR and DATO’ LIM KOK THAY, two of the Directors of GENTING BERHAD, do
hereby state that, in the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 20 to 49 are drawn up so as
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2000 and of the
results of the Group and of the Company and the cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the year ended on that
date in accordance with the applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia and comply with the Companies Act,
1965.

On behalf of the Board,

TUN MOHAMMED HANIF BIN OMAR DATO’ LIM KOK THAY
Deputy Chairman Managing Director 

Kuala Lumpur
18 April 2001

Statutory Declaration
Pursuant To Section 169 (16) Of The Companies Act, 1965

I, CHIEW SOW LIN, the Officer primarily responsible for the financial management of GENTING BERHAD, do solemnly
and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 20 to 49 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief,
correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions
of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960. 

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed )
CHIEW SOW LIN at KUALALUMPUR on 18 April 2001 ) CHIEW SOW LIN

Before me,

DATO’ NG MANN CHEONG
Commissioner for Oaths
Kuala Lumpur

Statement by Directors
Pursuant To Section 169 (15) Of The Companies Act, 1965

Kuala Lumpur
18 April 2001
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We have audited the financial statements set out on pages 20 to 49. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company’s Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved auditing standards in Malaysia.  Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall financial statements presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion:

a) the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 and
applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of:

(i) the matters required by Section 169 of the Companies Act, 1965 to be dealt with in the financial statements;
and

(ii) the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2000 and of the results and cash flows
of the Group and Company for the financial year ended on that date; and

b) the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by the
subsidiary companies of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions
of the Act.

The names of the subsidiary companies of which we have not acted as auditors are indicated in note 39 to the financial
statements. We have considered the financial statements of these subsidiary companies and the auditors’ reports
thereon.

We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiary companies that have been consolidated with the
Company’s financial statements are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required by us for those
purposes.

The auditors’reports on the financial statements of the subsidiary companies were not subject to any qualification and did
not include any comment made under subsection (3) of section 174 of the Act.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS
(No. AF: 1146)
Public Accountants

CHIN KWAI YOONG
(No. 890/4/02 (J/PH))
Partner of the firm

Kuala Lumpur
18 April 2001

Report of the Auditors
To The Members Of Genting Berhad



Audit Committee

TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Audit Committee (“the Committee”) was
established by the Board of Directors of Genting
B e rhad (“the Company”) on 26 July 1994. The
Committee is governed by the following terms of
reference:

1. Composition

(i) The Committee shall comprise thre e
d i rectors, a majority of whom are
independent of management and operating
responsibilities.  One of the Committee
members who is a non-executive director
shall be appointed as the Committee’s
Chairman by the members of the Committee.

(ii) If the number of members of the Committee
is reduced to below three for reasons of
resignation, death or otherwise, the Board of
Directors of the Company shall appoint such
number of new members as may be required
to make up the minimum number of three
members.

2. Authority

The Committee is granted the authority to
investigate any activity of the Company and its
subsidiaries, and all employees are directed to co-
operate as requested by members of the
Committee. The Committee is empowered to
retain persons having special competence as
necessary to assist the Committee in fulfilling its
responsibility.

3. Responsibility

The Committee is to serve as a focal point for
communication between non-Committee
directors, the external auditors, internal auditors
and the Management on matters in connection
with financial accounting, reporting and controls.
The Committee is to assist the Board of Directors
in fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities as to
accounting policies and reporting practices of the
Company and all subsidiaries and the sufficiency
of auditing relative thereto. It is to be the Board’s
principal agent in assuring the independence of
the Company’s external auditors, the integrity of
the management and the adequacy of disclosures
to shareholders.

4. Functions

The functions of the Committee are as follows:

i) review with the external auditors, their audit
plan;

ii) review with the external auditors, their
evaluation of the system of intern a l
accounting control;

iii) review with the external auditors, their audit
report;

iv) review the assistance given by the Company’s
officers to the external auditors;

v) review the scope and results of the internal
audit procedures;

vi) review the financial statements of the
Company and the consolidated financial
statements of the Group prior to the directors’
approval;

vii) review related party transactions that may
arise within the Company or the Group; and

viii) consider the appointment of extern a l
auditors, their audit fees and any question of
resignation and dismissal.

5. Meetings

i) The Committee is to meet at least twice a year
and as many times as the Committee deems
necessary.

ii) The quorum for any meeting of the
Committee shall be two.

iii) The finance director (head of finance), the
head of internal audit and a representative of
the external auditors shall normally attend
meetings of the Committee.

iv) Upon request by the external auditors, the
Chairman of the Committee shall convene a
meeting of the Committee to consider any
matters the external auditors believe should
be brought to the attention of the directors or
shareholders of the Company.

6. Secretary and Minutes

The Secre t a ry of the Committee shall be the
Company Secretary. Minutes of each meeting are
to be pre p a red and sent to the Committee
members, and the Company’s directors who are
not members of the Committee.
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Ten-Year Summary

Amounts in RM Million
Unless Otherwise Stated 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991

Profit/(Loss) before taxation (322.7) 1,521.4 909.7 1,542.5 1,260.9 1,135.8 792.0 1,084.9 694.5 577.4
Taxation (352.0) (15.7) (364.1) (346.7) (336.7) (282.2) (312.4) (238.8) (134.9) (152.0)

Profit/(Loss) after taxation (674.7) 1,505.7 545.6 1,195.8 924.2 853.6 479.6 846.1 559.6 425.4

Net profit/(loss) for the year (245.5) 1,101.1 414.3 771.3 645.9 567.6 210.1 597.8 370.8 277.6

Issued Capital 352.2 352.2 352.2 352.2 351.1 351.1 351.0 233.3 232.2 231.8
Unappropriated Profit 4,495.5 4,816.3 3,811.5 3,491.1 2,825.5 2,271.0 1,806.6 1,694.0 1,179.5 980.5
Other Reserves 536.4 620.4 609.9 639.8 495.4 469.7 447.4 561.3 556.6 566.1

Shareholders’Equity 5,384.1 5,788.9 4,773.6 4,483.1 3,672.0 3,091.8 2,605.0 2,488.6 1,968.3 1,778.4
Minority Interests 2,046.6 2,574.9 2,168.8 2,140.9 1,648.2 1,481.9 1,254.5 1,023.6 791.5 650.5
Long-Term Liabilities 614.9 290.2 275.3 261.7 145.5 123.2 102.4 82.7 71.9 36.2

Capital Employed 8,045.6 8,654.0 7,217.7 6,885.7 5,465.7 4,696.9 3,961.9 3,594.9 2,831.7 2,465.1

Property, Plant and Equipment 4,194.9 3,701.1 3,580.8 3,351.2 3,163.3 2,776.4 2,297.4 1,665.8 1,417.9 1,103.3
Real Property Assets 631.2 653.6 631.9 597.9 468.0 362.0 282.9 251.9 245.9 240.3
Associated Companies 1,927.2 1,446.2 1,324.4 317.9 239.4 178.8 131.8 7.1 0.2 106.5
Other Long Term Investments 114.0 167.0 7.3 122.1 4.2 3.0 8.3 2.1 2.1 0.0
Exploration Cost 439.2 437.6 399.2 207.0 36.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Long-Term Receivables 10.1 3.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Deferred Taxation 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 9.0 4.7 3.2 2.3 0.0 0.0

7,316.6 6,409.2 5,943.6 4,596.1 3,920.5 3,324.9 2,723.6 1,929.2 1,666.1 1,450.1
Net Current Assets 729.0 2,244.8 1,274.1 2,289.6 1,545.2 1,372.0 1,238.3 1,665.7 1,165.6 1,015.0

Employment of Capital 8,045.6 8,654.0 7,217.7 6,885.7 5,465.7 4,696.9 3,961.9 3,594.9 2,831.7 2,465.1

Earnings/(Loss) Per Share (sen)* (34.9) 156.3 58.8 109.6 92.0 80.8 29.9 85.5 53.3 39.9
Net Dividends Per 

Ordinary Share (sen)* 13.68 13.68 13.32 14.98 14.70 14.70 13.87 11.87 24.67 8.67
Dividend Cover (Times) N/A 11.4 4.4 7.3 6.3 5.5 2.2 7.2 2.2 4.6
Current Ratio 1.58 3.86 2.14 3.14 2.71 2.88 2.77 3.99 3.55 3.76
Net Tangible Assets Per 

Ordinary Share (RM)* 7.64 8.22 6.78 6.36 5.23 4.40 3.71 3.56 2.83 2.56
Return/(Loss) 
(after tax and minority interests) 
on average shareholders’equity (%) (4.4) 20.8 9.0 18.9 19.1 19.9 8.2 26.8 19.8 16.6

Market Share Price*
- Highest (RM) 18.00 15.70 14.00 18.00 25.75 27.50 24.90 26.00 10.67 8.07
- Lowest (RM) 8.75 7.85 6.40 7.70 17.00 18.90 16.67 9.00 7.27 4.53

Certain figures relating to the previous years have been reclassified/adjusted to conform with the current year’s presentation.
* Adjusted to reflect the increased number of ordinary shares of the company
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List of Properties Held
As At 31 December 2000

NET BOOK
VALUE AS A T AGE OF

APPROXIMATE 31 DEC 2000 BUILDINGS
LOCATION TENURE AREAS DESCRIPTION (RM million) (Years)

MALAYSIA

STATE OF PAHANG DARUL MAKMUR

1 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 100,592 sq.metres 18-storey Genting Hotel Complex 220.7 19
2 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 95,485 sq.metres 23-storey Resort Hotel & Car Park II 151.8 8
3 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 174,119 sq.metres 22-storey First World Hotel & Car Park V 290.7 1

(Phase 1)
4 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 20,516 sq.metres 23-storey Awana Tower Hotel 29.0 7
5 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 19,688 sq.metres 10-level Theme Park Hotel 39.4 29
6 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 11,902 sq.metres 10-level Theme Park Hotel - Valley Wing 13.8 25
7 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 29,059 sq.metres 16-storey Residential Staff Complex I 12.7 17
8 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 28,804 sq.metres 19-storey Residential Staff Complex II 19.4 8
9 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 89,392 sq.metres 16-storey Residential Staff Complex III 73.9 8

& Car Park III
10 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 41,976 sq.metres 25-storey Residential Staff Complex V 63.0 4
11 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 4,119 sq.metres 5-storey Ria Staff Residence 1.0 28
12 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 4,109 sq.metres 5-storey Sri Layang Staff Residence 23.5 6
13 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 18,397 sq.metres 8-level Car Park I 2.5 17
14 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 1,086 sq.metres 5-storey Bomba Building 0.9 17
15 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 1,503 sq.metres Petrol Station 2.7 2
16 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 4,151 sq.metres 3-storey Lakeside Teahouse 4.3 13
17 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Lake: 2 hectares Man-made Lake 0.7 –
18 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 2,769 sq.metres 4-storey Staff Recreation Centre 3.8 8
19 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 540 sq.metres 2 units of Kayangan Apartment 0.4 20
20 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 7,666 sq.metres Awana Golf & Country Resort Complex 22.6 14
21 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 17,010 sq.metres 174 units of Awana Condominium 29.0 14
22 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Built-up: 10,243 sq.metres 92 units of Ria Apartment (Pahang Tower) 15.5 14
23 Genting Highlands, Bentung Freehold Land: 2,937 hectares 101 plots of land & improvements 428.2 –
24 Genting Highlands, Bentung Leasehold Land: 6 hectares 2 plots of land & improvements 0.4 –

(unexpired lease 
period of 93 years)

25 Genting Highlands, Bentung Leasehold Land: 5 hectares 3 plots of industrial land (quarry) 0.6 –
(unexpired lease 
period of 58 years)

25 Mentakab, Temerloh Freehold Land: 84 hectares Vacant housing development land 5.9 –
26 Beserah, Kuantan Freehold Land: 3 hectares 2 plots of agriculture land with 1.2 14

Built-up: 713 sq.metres residential bungalow
27 Beserah, Kuantan Freehold Land: 4 hectares 4 plots of vacant agriculture land 0.9 –

STATE OF SELANGOR DARUL EHSAN

1 Genting Highlands, Hulu Selangor Freehold Built-up: 149,941 sq.metres 28-storey Highlands Hotel & Car Park IV 484.6 4
2 Genting Highlands, Hulu Selangor Freehold Land: 6 hectares 1 plot of building land 6.1

Built-up: 47,715 sq.metres 5-storey Genting Skyway Station Complex 81.1 4
with 4-level of basement carpark

3 Genting Highlands, Hulu Selangor Freehold Built up: 3,008 sq.metres 2-storey & 4-storey Gohtong Jaya 6.2 3
Security Buildings

4 Genting Highlands, Hulu Selangor Freehold Built-up: 8,485 sq.metres 75 units of Ria Apartment (Selangor Tower) 12.8 14
5 Genting Highlands, Hulu Selangor Freehold Land: 615 hectares 18 plots of building land 64.9 –
6 Genting Highlands, Gombak Freehold Land: 396 hectares 2 plots of vacant building land 28.8 –
7 Batang Kali, Hulu Selangor Freehold Land: 9 hectares 1 plot of vacant agriculture land 2.3 –
8 Ulu Yam, Hulu Selangor Freehold Land: 38 hectares 1 plots of vacant building land 16.3 –
9 Ulu Yam, Hulu Selangor Freehold Land: 4 hectares 3 plots of vacant agriculture land 1.1 –
10 Mukim Tanjung Dua Belas, Freehold Land: 45 hectares 1 plot of industrial land with paper mill & 77.9 7-9

Kuala Langat Built-up: 3,995 sq.metres power plant complex
11 Mukim Tanjung Dua Belas, Leasehold Land: 32 hectares 27 plots of industrial land 12.1 –

Kuala Langat (unexpired lease 
period of 75 years)

12 Mukim Tanjung Dua Belas, Leasehold Land: 3 hectares 1 plot of industrial land 2.4 –
Kuala Langat (unexpired lease 

period of 96 years)
13 Bandar Baru Bangi, Kajang Leasehold Land: 4,047 sq.metres 1 plot of land with factory 3.0 4

(unexpired lease Built-up: 1,505 sq.metres
period of 86 years)

14 Section 28, Petaling Jaya Leasehold Land: 2,875 sq.metres 2 plots of  industrial land with factory 5.3 4
(unexpired lease Built-up: 780 sq.metres
period of 66 years)
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15 Sungai Buloh, Gombak Freehold Land: 5,172 sq.metres 1 plot of land with factory 2.8 5
Built-up: 1,267 sq.metres

16 Pandamaran, Klang Freehold Land: 2,471 sq.metres 2 plots of land with factor y 1.5 4
Built-up: 1,316 sq.metres

17 Pulau Indah, Klang Leasehold Land: 47 hectares 13 plots of vacant industrial land & 49.0 –
(unexpired lease improvements
period of 95 years)

18 Rawang, Gombak Freehold Land: 5,574 sq.metres 1 plot of  industrial land with factory 2.0 2
Built-up: 669 sq.metres

FEDERAL TERRITORY OF KUALA LUMPUR

1 Taman U Thant, Kuala Lumpur Freehold Built-up: 178 sq.metres 1 unit of Desa Angkasa Apartment 0.3 14
2 Jalan Sultan Ismail, Kuala Lumpur Freehold Land: 3,940 sq.metres Wisma Genting - 25-level office 116.0 15

Built-up: 63,047 sq.metres building with 6-level basement
3 Segambut, Kuala Lumpur Leasehold Land: 4 hectares Store, helicopter, bus and limousine 10.3 25

(unexpired lease Built-up: 2,601 sq.metres depot
period of 74 years)

STATE OF PERAK DARUL RIDZUAN

1 Kinta, Perak Leasehold Land: 6 hectares 349 vacant housing development lots 1.9 –
(unexpired lease 
period of 89 years)

STATE OF TERENGGANU DARUL IMAN

1 Kijal, Kemaman Leasehold Land: 272 hectares 5 plots of resort / property development land 48.0 –
(unexpired lease 
period of 91 years) Land: 51 hectares 18-hole Awana Kijal Golf Course 12.6 –

Built-up: 35,563 sq.metres 7-storey Awana Kijal Hotel 126.0 4
Built-up: 1,944 sq.metres 29 units of Baiduri Apartment 3.0 6
Built-up: 6,823 sq.metres 90 units of Angsana Apartment 10.6 5

STATE OF KEDAH DARUL AMAN

1 Mukim Sg. Seluang, Kulim Freehold Land: 7,299 sq.metres 2 plots of industrial land with factory 1.1 2
Built-up: 669 sq.metres

2 Mukim Sg. Petani, Kuala Muda Freehold Land: 2,922 sq.metress 1 plot of industrial land with factory 0.9 5
Built-up: 1,041 sq.metres

3 Tanjung Malai, Langkawi Leasehold Land: 14 hectares 5 plots of building land 10.1 –
(unexpired lease Built-up: 14,387 sq.metres 3-storey Awana Langkawi Hotel 60.3 3
period of 87 years) Cultural/Sports Centre, Maritime/

Entertainment Centre

STATE OF PULAU PINANG

1 Seberang Perai Selatan, Freehold Land: 7 hectares 1 plot of industrial land 5.9 –
Pulau Pinang

STATE OF JOHORE 

1 Kulai, Johor Freehold Land: 11 hectares 6 plots of industrial land 18.7 –

ESTATES/PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT 
(“PD”)

1 Paya Kamunting Estate Freehold Estate: 537 hectares Rubber and oil palm estate 7.9 –
Jitra, Kedah

2 Bukit Sembilan/Riverside Estate Freehold Estate: 817 hectares Rubber and oil palm estate, property 59.7 5
Baling/Sg. Petani, Kedah PD: 132 hectares development, golf course & clubhouse

3 Selama Estate, Serdang & Kulim Freehold Estate: 1,856 hectares Rubber and oil palm estate 24.2 –
Kedah/Selama, Perak

4 Bute & Dominion Estate, Sepang & Freehold Estate: 666 hectares Rubber and oil palm estate and orchard 13.8 –
Ulu Langat, Selangor
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5 Tebong/Repah Estate, Jasin & Freehold Estate  : 2,417 hectares Rubber and oil palm estate 31.1 –
Alor Gajah, Melaka/Tampin
& Kuala Pilah, Negeri Sembilan

6 Cheng Estate, Melaka Tengah, Freehold Estate: 811 hectares Rubber and oil palm estate and 29.0 –
Alor Gajah & Kuala Linggi, Melaka PD: 13 hectares property development

7 Tanah Merah Estate, Tangkak, Freehold Estate : 1,842 hectares Rubber and oil palm estate 25.8 –
Johor

8 Sg. Rayat Estate, Batu Pahat, Freehold Estate: 1,707 hectares Oil palm estate 29.6 –
Johor

9 Sri Gading Estate, Batu Pahat, Freehold Estate: 3,662 hectares Oil palm estate 65.6 –
Johor

10 Sing Mah Estate, Air Hitam, Freehold Estate: 669 hectares Oil palm estate and mill 12.9 20
Johor

11 Kulai Besar (North) / Kulai Freehold Estate: 3,194 hectares Oil palm estate and mill and 338.4 11
Besar Estate, Johor PD: 121 hectares property development

12 Setiamas Estate, Kulai Freehold Estate: 193  hectares Oil palm estate and 97.5 –
& Batu Pahat, Johor PD: 141 hectares property development

13 Sabapalm Estate, Labuk Valley Leasehold Estate: 4,077 hectares Oil palm estate and mill 39.2 30
Sandakan, Sabah (unexpired lease 

period of 887 years)
Leasehold Estate: 283 hectares Oil palm estate –
(unexpired lease 
period of 85 years)

14 Sri Tanjung Estate, Leasehold Estate: 4,153 hectares Oil palm estate and mill 40.5 6
Kinabatangan, Sabah (unexpired lease 

period of 86 years)
15 Sri Bahagia Estate, Leasehold Estate: 3,941 hectares Oil palm estate 27.4 –

Kinabatangan, Sabah (unexpired lease 
period of 86 years)

16 Sri Tenegang Estate, Leasehold Estate: 4,047 hectares Oil palm estate 29.4 –
Kinabatangan, Sabah (unexpired lease 

period of 88 years)
17 Sri Landworthy Estate, Leasehold Estate: 4,039 hectares Oil palm estate 29.0 –

Kinabatangan, Sabah (unexpired lease 
period of 83 years)

18 Sri Layang Estate, Leasehold Estate: 1,683 hectares Oil palm estate 12.9 –
Kinabatangan, Sabah (unexpired lease 

period of 90 years)
19 Bangi Factory, Leasehold Land: 12,140 sq.metres 1 plot of land with factory 2.5 19

Selangor (unexpired lease Bulit-up: 5,556 sq.metres
period of 86 years)

20 Asiatic Regional Office, Leasehold Land: 1,206 sq.metres 2 units of 2-storey intermediate 0.1 16
Sandakan, Sabah (unexpired lease Bulit-up: 374 sq.metres detached house

period of 887 years)
21 Asiatic Vegetable Oils Refinery, Leasehold Land: 8 hectares Vacant land 2.4 –

Sandakan, Sabah (unexpired lease 
period of 80 years)

ENGLAND

1 Hyde Park, London Leasehold Built-up: 286 sq.metres 2 units of residential apartment 2.0 21
at Hyde Park Towers (unexpired lease 

period of 976 years)

AUSTRALIA

1 Sydney Freehold Land: 3,924 sq.metres 9 plots of development land at 102.6 –
487-503 George Street, 101-105 Bathurst
Street and 486-494 Kent Street

List of Properties Held
As At 31 December 2000
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Group Offices

GROUP HEAD OFFICE

Genting Berhad
Wisma Genting, Jalan Sultan Ismail,
50250 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Tel : 03 – 2161 2288/202 2288
Fax : 03 – 2161 5304
Telex : GHHB MA 30022
E-mail : gbinfo@genting.com.my

LEISURE & HOSPITALITY DIVISION

Principal Executive Officer
Dato’ Lim Kok Thay

CORPORATE OFFICES

Resorts World Bhd
Awana Hotels & Resorts
23rd Floor, Wisma Genting,
Jalan Sultan Ismail,
50250 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Tel : 03 – 2161 3833/202 3833
Fax : 03 – 2161 5304/202 2633
Telex : GHHB MA 30022
E-mail : rwbinfo@genting.com.my
Websites : www.genting.com.my

www.awana.com.my

Star Cruises Limited
Suite 1501, Ocean Centre,
5, Canton Road, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong SAR
Tel : (852) 2378 2000
Fax : (852) 2314 3809
Website : www.starcruises.com

RESORTS

Genting Highlands Resor t
69000 Pahang, Malaysia
Tel : 03 – 211 1118
Fax : 03 – 211 1888

Awana Genting Highlands Golf &
Country Resor t
8th Mile, Genting Highlands,
69000 Pahang, Malaysia
Tel : 03 – 211 3015
Fax : 03 – 211 3535
E-mail : agh@resorts.com.my

Awana Kijal Golf & Beach Resor t
KM. 28, Jalan Kemaman-Dungun,
24100 Kijal, Kemaman,
Terengganu, Malaysia
Tel : 09 – 864 1188
Fax : 09 – 864 1688
E-mail : awanakij@tm.net.my

Awana Porto Malai, Langkawi
Tanjung Malai, 07000 Langkawi,
Kedah, Malaysia
Tel : 04 – 955 5111
Fax : 04 – 955 5222
E-mail : apml@resorts.com.my

Star Cruises
Star Cruises Terminal,
Pulau Indah, Pelabuhan Barat,
42000 Pelabuhan Klang,
Selangor, Malaysia
Tel : 03 – 3101 1313
Fax : 03 – 3101 1800
E-mail : s t a rc a re @ s t a rc ru i s e s . c o m . m y
Website : www.starcruises.com

SALES & RESER VATIONS OFFICES

Genting Highlands Resor t
Central Reservations Service
(For rooms, shows, theme park and other
resort facilities)
Ground Floor, Wisma Genting,
Jalan Sultan Ismail,
50250 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Tel : 03 – 2718 1118
Fax : 03 – 2718 1888
Toll Free Line: 1 800 18 1118
Reservations E-mail:

roomrsv@genting.com.my
Membership E-mail:

gwcard@genting.com.my

Subang Jaya Office
Lot 3.38A, The Summit, Subang USJ,
Persiaran Kewajipan, USJ1,
47600 UEP Subang Jaya, Malaysia
Tel : 03 – 724 7488
Fax : 03 – 724 8788

Penang Office
5th Floor, 5, Wisma Berjaya Prudential,
41, Cantonment Road,
10250 Penang, Malaysia
Tel : 04 – 228 2655
Fax : 04 – 227 6284

Ipoh Office
Lot T24, 3rd Floor, Ipoh Parade,
105, Jalan Sultan Abdul Jalil,
Greentown, 30450 Ipoh,
Perak, Malaysia
Tel : 05 – 243 2988
Fax : 05 – 243 6988

Johor Bahru Office
1F-(Ground) Floor, Jalan Maju,
Taman Maju Jaya,
80400 Johor Bahru, Malaysia
Tel : 07 – 334 4555
Fax : 07 – 334 4666

Kuching Office
No. 25, Bukit Mata,
Jalan Padungan, Kuching,
93100 Sarawak, Malaysia
Tel : 082 – 412 522
Fax : 082 – 412 022

CONVENTION SALES
23rd Floor, Wisma Genting,
Jalan Sultan Ismail,
50250 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Tel : 03 – 2162 2666
Fax : 03 – 2162 1551
E-mail : convsale@genting.com.my

Genting International Convention Centre
Website: www.mice.egenting.com

OTHER SERVICES

Genting Transport Reservations Centr e
For buses and limousines
Lot 1988/4888, Jalan Segambut Te n g a h ,
51200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Tel : 03 – 6251 8398
Fax : 03 – 6251 8399

Limousine Service Counter 
(KLIA Sepang)
A rrival Level 3, Main Te rminal Building,
KL International Airport,
64000 KLIA Sepang,
Selangor, Malaysia
Tel : 03 – 877 66753
Fax : 03 – 8787 3873

Limousine Service Counter 
(Genting Highlands) 
Highlands Hotel,
69000 Genting Highlands Resort
Tel : 03 – 211 1118
ext : 58771/7750/7916

Resorts World Tours Sdn Bhd
For airline ticketing and travel agency services 
Ground Floor, Wisma Genting,
Jalan Sultan Ismail,
50250 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Tel : 03 – 2162 2666
Fax : 03 – 200 6995

OVERSEAS

Singapor e
Genting International (S) Pte Ltd
268, Orchard Road, #08-02/04,
Singapore 238856
Tel : 02 – 734 2735
Fax : 02 – 737 7260
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Hong Kong SAR
Genting International PLC
Suite 1503, Ocean Centre,
5, Canton Road, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong SAR
Tel : 852 – 2317 7133
Fax : 852 – 2314 8724

Bangkok
18th Floor, B.U.I. Building
177/1, Soi Anumamrachathon 1,
Surawongse Road, Bangrak, Bangkok,
10500 Thailand
Tel : 662 – 634 7240
Fax : 662 – 634 7217 

PLANTATION DIVISION

Principal Executive Officers
Dato’ Lim Kok Thay
Dato’ Baharuddin bin Musa

HEAD OFFICE

Asiatic Development Berhad
10th Floor, Wisma Genting,
Jalan Sultan Ismail,
50250 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Tel : 03 – 2161 3733/202 3733
Fax : 03 – 2161 6149
Telex : ADSB MA 31250
E-mail : info@asiatic.com.my

REGIONAL OFFICE
Sabah Development Co. Sdn Bhd 
Lot 39, Taman Wemin, Mile 5,
Labuk Road, 90008 Sandakan,
Sabah, Malaysia
Tel : 089 – 208 203/208 204
Fax : 089 – 211 108

PAPER, POWER AND OIL & GAS
DIVISIONS

Principal Executive Officer
Mr Ong Tiong Soon

HEAD OFFICE

Genting Sanyen Industrial Paper 
Sdn Bhd
Genting Sanyen Paperboard Sdn Bhd
Genting Sanyen Power Sdn Bhd
Genting Oil & Gas Ltd
22nd Floor, Wisma Genting,
Jalan Sultan Ismail,
50250 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Tel : 03 – 2161 2288/201 1393
Fax : 03 – 2162 4032

FACTORY

Genting Sanyen Industrial Complex
Lot 7090, Mukim Tanjung 12,
Bukit Canggang,
Daerah Kuala Langat,
42700 Banting, Selangor, Malaysia

Paper Mill
Tel : 03 – 3182 5000
Fax : 03 – 3182 5100

Power Plant
Tel : 03 – 3182 6800
Fax : 03 – 3182 6900

Box Plant
Tel : 03 – 3182 5200
Fax : 03 – 3182 5300

Oil & Gas
Tel : 03 – 2161 2288
Fax : 03 – 2163 5187

PROPERTY DIVISION

Principal Executive Officer
Dato’ Lim Kok Thay

Gentinggi Sdn Bhd
Genting Property Management 
Sdn Bhd
23rd Floor, Wisma Genting,
Jalan Sultan Ismail,
50250 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Tel : 03 – 2161 3633/2161 3833
Fax : 03 – 2161 5304
Telex : GHHB MA 30022

Property Sales

- Awana Condominium
- Ria Apartments
Enquiries:
Tel : 03 – 2161 3633/2161 3833
Fax : 03 – 2163 5079
Telex : GHHB MA 30022

Kijal Resort Sdn Bhd
Sales Office
- Angsana Apartments
- Baiduri Apartments
8th Floor, Wisma Genting,
Jalan Sultan Ismail,
50250 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Tel : 03 – 2161 3833/2161 2288
Fax : 03 – 2164 7480

Projek Bandar Pelancongan 
Pantai Kijal
KM. 28, Jalan Kemaman-Dungun,
24100 Kijal, Kemaman,
Terengganu, Malaysia
Tel : 09 – 864 9261
Fax : 09 – 864 9260

Asiatic Land Development Sdn Bhd
Permaipura Sales Office 
Jalan Permaipura 5, Riverside
08100, Bedong, Kedah
Tel : 04 – 452 1000/1/2
Fax : 04 – 452 1003

Indahpura Sales Office
19th Mile, Kulai Besar,
81000 Kulai, Johor
Tel : 07 – 662 4652/3
Fax : 07 – 662 4655

E-COMMERCE & IT DIVISIONS

Principal Executive Officer
Mr Justin Tan Wah Joo

E-Genting Holdings Sdn Bhd
19th Floor, Wisma Genting,
Jalan Sultan Ismail,
50250 Kuala Lumpur
Tel : 03 – 2161 2288/202 2288
Fax : 03 – 200 6666
E-mail : e g e n t i n g i n f o @ g e n t i n g . c o m . m y

Genting Information Knowledge
Enterprise Sdn Bhd
19th Floor, Wisma Genting,
Jalan Sultan Ismail,
50250 Kuala Lumpur
Tel : 03 – 2161 2288/202 2288
Fax : 03 – 200 6666
E-mail : e g e n t i n g i n f o @ g e n t i n g . c o m . m y

Genting Card Services Sdn Bhd
17th Floor, Wisma Genting,
Jalan Sultan Ismail,
50250 Kuala Lumpur
Tel : 03 – 2161 2288/202 2288
Fax : 03 – 200 6611
E-mail : e g e n t i n g i n f o @ g e n t i n g . c o m . m y

E-Genting Sdn Bhd
19th Floor, Wisma Genting,
Jalan Sultan Ismail,
50250 Kuala Lumpur
Tel : 03 – 2161 2288/202 2288
Fax : 03 – 200 6666
E-mail : e g e n t i n g i n f o @ g e n t i n g . c o m . m y
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Analysis of Shareholdings
As At 20 April 2001

Class of Share : Ordinary Shares of 50 sen each
Voting Rights : One vote per share

No. of % of No. of % of
Size of Holdings Shareholders Shareholders Shares Held Issued Capital

1 – 1,000 16,366 52.84 11,241,751 1.59
1,001 – 5,000 9,943 32.10 27,190,261 3.86
5,001 – 10,000 2,139 6.91 16,821,637 2.39

10,001 – 100,000 2,108 6.81 60,543,477 8.60
100,001 – 1,000,000 352 1.14 111,723,249 15.86

1,000,001 & above 61 0.20 476,818,579 67.70

Total 30,969 100.00 704,338,954 100.00

TWENTY (20) LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

No. of % of
Name Shares Held Issued Capital

1. Kien Huat Realty Sdn Bhd 238,628,052 33.88
2. UOBM Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 24,400,000 3.46

A/c of Tinehay Holdings Limited
3. Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 14,304,690 2.03  

A/c of SCB Corporate Banking Group Singapore for 
Golden Hope Limited (Safekeeping) 

4. Golden Hope Limited 13,841,000 1.97
5. Malaysia Nominees (Asing) Sendirian Berhad 13,830,800 1.96

A/c of Straits Lion Asset Management Pte Ltd for 
The Great Eastern Life Assurance Co Ltd (00-10020)

6. Time Life Equity Sdn Bhd 11,523,996 1.64
7. Alocasia Sdn Bhd 11,298,000 1.60
8. World Management Sdn Bhd 11,048,600 1.57
9. Citicorp Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 10,696,780 1.52

A/c of TNTC for Silchester International Investors International 
Value Equity Trust 

10. Datacorp Sdn Bhd 7,101,700 1.01
11. Chase Malaysia Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 7,015,500 0.99

A/c of IBJ Bank & Trust Company for the Schroder Pacific 
Emerging Markets Fund 

12. Malaysia Nominees (Tempatan) Sendirian Berhad 6,954,358 0.99
A/c of Great Eastern Life Assurance (Malaysia) Berhad (MLF)

13. Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong 6,681,000 0.95
14. Eastwest Holdings Sdn Bhd 5,556,984 0.79
15. Citicorp Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 5,534,600 0.79

A/c of TNTC for Silchester International Investors International 
Value Equity Group Trust

16. Employees Provident Fund Board 4,726,000 0.67
17. Chase Malaysia Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 4,432,200 0.63

A/c of Abu Dhabi Investment Authority
18. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 4,005,000 0.57

A/c of HSBC Guyerzeller for Asia Investment Corporation (B.V.I)
19. Chase Malaysia Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 3,894,400 0.55

A/c of Templeton Developing Markets Trust
20. SBBAM Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 3,892,200 0.55

A/c of Yayasan Mohd Noah (A/C1)

Total 409,365,860 58.12



Analysis of Shareholdings
As At 20 April 2001 (Cont’d)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS PER REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

No. of ordinary shares held

% of % of
Name Direct Interest Issued Capital Indirect Interest Issued Capital

(a) Kien Huat Realty Sdn Bhd 238,628,052 33.88 51,746,600^ 7.35
(b) Parkview Management Sdn Bhd - - 290,374,652 41.23
(c) Inforex Sdn Bhd - - 238,628,052 33.88
(d) Info-Text Sdn Bhd - - 238,628,052 33.88
(e) Dataline Sdn Bhd - - 238,628,052 33.88
(f) G.T. Realty Sdn Bhd - - 238,628,052 33.88
(g) Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd - - 51,390,763 7.30
(h) Chase Malaysia Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd - - 40,815,021 5.79
(i) HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd - - 39,471,105 5.60
(j) Cartaban Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd - - 34,232,204 4.86
(k) Citicorp Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd - - 32,772,061 4.65
(l) UOBM Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd - - 29,685,610 4.21
(m) Tinehay Holdings Limited - - 29,400,000 4.17
(n) Golden Hope Limited - - 28,145,690 4.00

(As trustee of the Golden Hope Unit Trust)
(o) GZ Trust Corporation - - 28,145,690 4.00

(As trustee of the Bridge Street Trust of Woodbourne)
(p) GZ Trust Corporation - - 28,145,690 4.00

(As Trustee of the K H Trust)
(q) Schroder Investment Management Limited - - 24,848,598 3.53
(r) Great Eastern Holdings Limited - - 21,761,758 3.09
(s) Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited - - 21,761,758 3.09
(t) The Great Eastern Life Assurance Co. Ltd 14,654,400 2.08 6,954,358 0.99
(u) Silchester International Investors Limited - - 21,110,300 3.00
(v) Malaysia Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd - - 15,493,137 2.20
(w) Dato’ Lim Kok Thay 2,986,000 0.42 11,523,996# 1.64

Notes:

(a)^ Deemed interested through its subsidiaries
(b) Deemed interested through Kien Huat Realty Sdn Bhd and its subsidiaries
(c)-(f) Deemed interested through Kien Huat Realty Sdn Bhd
(g) Out of this block of shares, Golden Hope Limited (As trustee of the Golden Hope Unit Trust) is the beneficial owner of 14,304,690

ordinary shares representing 2.03% of the total issued and paid-up capital of the Company. The remaining ordinary shares are
held in trust for beneficial owners, each of whom has less than 2% of the total issued and paid-up capital of the Company

(h)-(k) These are shares held in trust for beneficial owners, each of whom has less than 2% of the total issued and paid-up capital
of the Company

(l) Out of this block of shares, Tinehay Holdings Limited is the beneficial owner of 24,400,000 ordinary shares representing 3.46%
of the total issued and paid-up capital of the Company. The remaining ordinary shares are held in trust for beneficial owners,
each of whom has less than 2% of the total issued and paid-up capital of the Company

(q) Acting as Fund Manager, holding shares for beneficial owners, each of whom has less than 2% of the total issued and paid-up
capital of the Company

(r) Deemed interested through subsidiary companies
(s) Deemed interested under Section 6A(4)(c) of the Companies Act, 1965
(t) These shares are held by subsidiary companies
(u) Acting as Investment Manager for a number of large institutional investors and commingled fund, which shares are held in the

nominee names of their respective Custodian Bank, each of whom has less than 2% of the paid-up capital of the Company
(v) Out of this block of shares, Great Eastern Holdings Limited is the beneficial owner of 14,654,400 ordinary shares representing

2.08% of the total issued and paid-up capital of the Company. The remaining ordinary shares are held in trust for beneficial
owners, each of whom has less than 2% of the total issued and paid-up capital of the Company

(w)# Deemed interested under Section 6A(4)(c) of the Companies Act, 1965 through Time Life Equity Sdn Bhd, a company in which
Dato’ Lim Kok Thay holds more than 15% equity interest 

AMERICAN DEPOSITORY RECEIPTS - LEVEL 1 PROGRAMME

The Company’s American Depository Receipts (“ADR”) Level 1 Programme commenced trading in the U.S. over-the-counter market
on 13 August 1999. Under the ADR Programme, a maximum of 21 million ordinary shares of RM0.50 each representing
approximately 3% of the total issued and paid-up share capital of the Company will be traded in ADRs. Each ADR represents 5
ordinary shares of the Company. The Bank of New York as the Depository Bank has appointed Malayan Banking Berhad as its sole
custodian of the shares of the Company for the ADR Programme. As at 31 March 2001, there is no ADR outstanding. Hence, no
share of the Company has been deposited with the sole custodian for the ADR Programme.
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Form of Proxy
(Before completing the form please refer to the notes overleaf)

I/We
(FULL NAME IN BLOCK CAPITALS)

of
(ADDRESS)

being a member/members of GENTING BERHAD hereby appoint 

(FULL NAME)

of 
(ADDRESS)

or failing him
(FULL NAME)

of
(ADDRESS)

or failing him, *the CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING as my/our *first proxy to attend and vote for me/us on my/our
behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday, 26 June 2001 at 2.30 p.m. and at any
adjournment thereof.

Where it is desired to appoint a second proxy this section must also be completed, otherwise it should be deleted.

I/We
(FULL NAME IN BLOCK CAPITALS)

of
(ADDRESS)

being a member/members of GENTING BERHAD hereby appoint 

(FULL NAME)

of
(ADDRESS)

or failing him
(FULL NAME)

of
(ADDRESS)

or failing him, *the CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING as my/our *second proxy to attend and vote for me/us on my/our
behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday, 26 June 2001 at 2.30 p.m. and at any
adjournment thereof.

“A”

“B”

(7916-A)



The proportions of my/our holding to be represented by my/our proxies are as follows:

First  Proxy “A” %
Second Proxy “B” %

100%

In case of a vote taken by a show of hands *First Proxy “A”/*Second Proxy “B” shall vote on my/our behalf.

My/our proxies shall vote as follows:-

First Proxy “A” Second Proxy “B”
ORDINARY RESOLUTION

For Against For Against

To receive and adopt the Audited 
Financial Statements Resolution 1

To sanction the declaration of a final 
dividend Resolution 2

To approve Directors’ fees Resolution 3

To re-elect Encik Nik Hashim bin Nik Yusoff
as a Director Resolution 4

To re-appoint Tan Sri Lim Goh Tong as a 
Director in accordance with Section 129 
of the Companies Act, 1965 Resolution 5 

To re-appoint Tan Sri Mohd Amin bin Osman 
as a Director in accordance with 
Section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965 Resolution 6

To re-appoint Tan Sri Gunn Chit Tuan as a 
Director in accordance with Section 129 
of the Companies Act, 1965 Resolution 7

To re-appoint Auditors Resolution 8

(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided how you wish your votes to be cast. If you do not do so, the
proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/their discretion.)

Signed this                     day of                     2001

No. of Shares held

* Delete if inapplicable Signature of Member(s) 

NOTES

A member entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies (but not more than two) to attend
and vote instead of him.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company  but in accordance with Section 149 of the Companies
Act, 1965, a member shall not be entitled to appoint a person who is not a member of the Company as his proxy unless that
person is an advocate, an approved company auditor or a person approved by the Registrar of Companies in a particular case.
Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his holding to
be represented by each proxy.  The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company
not less than 48 hours before the time set for holding the meeting or at any adjournment thereof.

In the case of a corporation, this form must be either under seal or signed by a duly authorised officer or attorney.


